"PROCESSED -
COARI3AN

- .. THOMSON,- "
~ “FINANCIALLS

8 of difference -~

( I EEomTmooT

CAPR 112667

[

i 2083

Lo
o 1
.




Finandil Highlights

(O Ereusenes, @xegpt par shere dle) 2006
Nt servies revenuss $283,471 SRR SI72566
20,010 1728 6,705
[Nedincome 8,530 3572
Nt bneerns per elllvie dhers 0.58 07 07
56,404 407K
Totel assls 455.072 |
140,112 P804 |




Annual Report

1200 ZacewaTowertt INVInGlSTreetGinc nnati RO BIL 520]
pre1s13)8 115550]
Fax 1513138

INccthlAmencaYGorporateldeadquantersiGincnnatiRO K]
TReth &0 £0B 50 SEEQ

[EuropeNEuropeanteadguattersiGrowihamelEerkshireY Ergland]
T BHNEOEDB

s ia/Bac ficlidelcourne¥Aus ralia)
<@ DY 0

latnfamericaltiexicoGiiybiexicol
jT<2052155121690300]

P4 ncallonannesourgYsouthiaing]
Todh <887 00 10 548

[Emaillinfo@kendlercom

About Kendle

Kendle (Nasdag: KNDL} is among the world's
leading global clinical research organizations and is
the fourth-largest provider of Phase IV clinical
development services worldwide. We deliver
innovative and robust clinical development
solutions — from first-in-human studies through
market launch and surveillance — to help the
world's biopharmaceutical companies maximize

product life cycles and grow market share.

Our global cdinical development business is
focused on five regions — North America,
Europe, Asia/Pacific, Latin America and Africa
— to meet customer needs. With the expertise
of our more than 3,000 associates worldwide,
Kendle has conducted clinical trials and provided
regulatory and pharmacovigilance - services in
more than 80 countrtes. The Company was
named "“Best Contract Research Organization”
in November 2006 by an independent panel for
Scrip World Pharmaceutical News.

Additional information and investor kits
are available upon request from Kendle,
1200 Carew Tower, 441 Vine Street, Cincinnati,
OH 45202 or from the Company's Web site at

www.kendle.com —
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To our Shareholders, Customers,
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66
...we entered 2007/

from a position of
increased global
strength and
leadership in a thriving
market growing at

double-digit rates.
99

I. Jefferies & Company, Inc. 4Q06 Industry Update, January 24, 2007,
and Goldman Sachs, Pharmaceutical Services. january 23. 2007,
2. Business Insights, "Pharma Outsourcing Strategies,” April 200¢.
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We ended the year with
net service revenues

of $283.5 million,

up 40 percent from

$202.0 million in 2005...
99
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66
...we now offer

coverage across
more Latin American

countries than any
other global CRO...
99

3. For the reconolliation of GAAP 10 proforma. please see www.kendie.com for February 16. 2007,
earnings press release.
4. jefferies & Company, Inc,, March 2007
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66
At Kendle, our

passion Is bringing
new life-enhancing
and life-saving
medicines to market
for the benefit of

people worldwide.
99

5. Proprietary Kendle research, 2606
6. Jefferies & Company, Inc., Phase Forward/EDC Market, December 15, 2006.
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In 2006 we completed
nearly 500 projects
and worked with
approximately

26 percent more
patients than the

year before.
99
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Kendle also was

recognized in late 2006
as the ‘Best Clinical

Research Organization...
99
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We recognize

that the strength

of our leadership
team is key 1o the
ongoing growth and
success of our global

organization.
99
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There is no doubt
this has been a
phenomenal year

for Kendle.
99
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...we thank each

of you who has
supported Kendle
through your
business, dedication

and investment. ..
99
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Selected Financial Data

FINANCIAL REVIEW ‘

(In thousands, except per share data)
For the years ended December 31,

Consolidated statements of operations ' 2006 2005 2004 003 2002
Net service revenues 283471 202,032 | $ 172,888 156,221 | % 165,173
Reimbursable out-of-pocket revenues 90,465 48,607 42,980 53436 48841
Total revenues 373936 250,639 215,868 209,657 214014
Cost and expenses:
Direct costs 152,826 108,582 96,909 91,133 98438
Reimbursable out-of-pocket costs 90,465 48,607 42980 53436 48841
Selling, general and administrative 91,796 68216 59,797 52402 48,645
Depreciation and amortization 10,403 7991 3,175 9057 8,347
Employee severance and office conscidation costs 236 - 302 1,468 408
Intangible impairment charge 8,200 - v - - 67,745
Total costs and expenses 353,926 233.3%6 209.163 207,496 272,425
Income (Joss) from operations 20010 17243 6,705 2,161 (5841 1)
Other income (expenses):
Interest income 1,939 1019 400 334 534
Interest expense (6781} {460) (776) (1.03%) (1.219)
Other (1,795 {287) {(873) (725) (61
Investment impairment - - - (405) (1938)
Gain on debt extinguishment - 300 597 558 -
Total other income (expenses) (6,637) 572 (652) (1,277 (2,684)
Income (loss) before income taxes 13373 17,815 6,053 854 (61095)
Income taxes 4,843 7.141 248l 2574 {6,295)
Net income {loss) 8,530 10,674 | $ 3,572 (1,690) 1 % (54.800)
Income {loss) per share data
Basic:
Net income {loss) per share 0.60 079 (% 0.27 0.13) |3 (4.30)
Weighted average shares 14,323 13572 13,166 12973 12,734
Diluted:
Net income (loss) per share 0.58 076 % 027 0.13) 1% {4.30)
Weighted average shares 14,762 14,120 13,391 12973 12,734
Consolidated balance sheet data'
Working capital 56404 63992 |3 40,714 38523 |§ 41451
Total assets 455072 184,759 162,680 154415 155397
Total short and long-term debt 200,099 4 572 9 853 15,503 21,236
Total shareholders' equity 140,012 122,504 102,775 96,369 94,360

1. From 2002 to 2006, the Company made four acquisitions. See Note |3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.




Kendle

Managements Discussion and Analysis of FlnanClaI
Condition and Results of Operations

The information set forth and discussed below is derived
from the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements and
the related notes thereto, which are included herein, and
should be read in conjunction therewith.

Company Overview

Kendle Internaticnal Inc. {the Company) is a global clinical
research organization (CRO) that delivers integrated
Phase I-IV global clinical development services to the
biopharmaceutical industry. The Company operates in
North America, Europe, Asia/Pacific, Latin America and
Adrica. In the first quarter of 2006, the Company reorganized
its business into two reportable segments: Early Stage and
Late Stage. The Early Stage business currently focuses on the
Company's Phase | operations, while Late Stage is comprised
of contract services related 1o Phase Il through [V clinical
development, regulatery affairs and biometrics offerings. The
Company aggregates its clinical development operating unit,
regulatory affairs operating unit, and biomeirics operating unit
into the Late Stage segment under the aggregation criteria in
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, The
aggregation criteria met includes a similar nature of services
provided, a similar type of customer, similar methods used
to distribute services, similar economic characteristics and
a similar regulatory environment. Previously the Company
had been managed in one reportable segment. The changes
represent only reclassifications between segments and do
not change the Company's consolidaied net service revenues,
operating income, identifiable assets, capital expenditures
and depreciation expense as reported in previous quarterly
and annual filings. The effects of the segment restatements
on previously reported historical results are included in the
footnote. Al operating segment information from prior
periods presented in this document reflects the impact of
segment reclassifications.

The Company's contracts are generally fixed price, with
some variable components, and range in duration from a
iew months to several years. A contract typically requires
a portion of the contract fee to be paid at the time the
contract is entered into, and the balance is received in
installments over the contract's duration, in most cases on
a milestone-achievemeni basis. Net service revenues from

contracts are generally recognized on the percentage of
completion method, measured principally by the total costs
incurred as a percentage of estimated total costs for each
contract. The estimated total costs of contracts are reviewed
and revised pericdically throughout the lives of the contracts
with adjustments to revenues resulting from such revisions
being recorded on a cumulative basis in the period in which
the revisions are made. When estimates indicate a loss,
such loss is provided in the current period in its entirety.
The Company also performs work under time-and-materials
contracts, recognizing revenue as hours are worked based
on the hourly billing rates for each contract. Additionally. the
Company recognizes revenue under units-based contracts as
units are completed multiplied by the contract per-unit price.
Finally, at one of the Company's subsidiaries, the contracts
are of a short-term nature and revenue is recognized under
the completed contract method of accounting.

The Company's customers from time to time request
changes in the scope of services to be provided under a
contract. A customer could request a reduction in scope
at any time. Additionally, a customer could request an
increase in scope or there could be a change in the contract
assumptions underlying the fixed costs. In such event, the
parties will begin negotiating a contract amendment. During
this negotiation period, the Company may or may not begin
work on the out-of-scope services. The Company uses all
reasonable efforts to delay performing out-of-scope activities
until the contract amendment is signed. However, there are
some circumstances in which out-of-scope activities must
commence before the contract amendment is signed in
order to meet project deliverables.

The Company incurs costs, in excess of contract amounts,
in subcontracting with third-party investigators as well as
other out-of-pocket costs. These out-of-pocket costs are
reimbursable by the Company's customers. The Company
includes amounts paid to investigators and other out-of-
pocket costs as reimbursable out-of-pocket revenues and
reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. In certain contracis, these costs
are fixed by the contract terms, so the Company recognizes
these costs as part of net service revenues and direct costs.




Direct costs consist of compensation and related fringe benefits
for project-related associates, unreimbursed project-related
costs and an allocation of indirect costs including facilities,
information systems and other costs. Selling, general and
administrative (SG&A) expenses consist of compensation and
related fringe benefits for sales and administrative associates
and professional services, as well as unallocated costs related
to facilities, information systems and other costs.

Depreciation and amortization expenses consist  of
depreciation and amortization costs recorded on a straight-
line method over the useful life of the property or equipment
and internally developed software. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are reviewed at least annually for
impairment, In 2006, the Company recorded an $8.2 million
impairment charge on a $15.0 million customer relationship
intangible asset that had been classified as an indefinite-lived
intangible. The Company reviewed the facts and circumstances
surrounding the intangible and has determined that the life
of the intangible is no longer indefinite. The Company has
assigned a 23-year life to the remaining $6.8 million value of
the intangible and will begin amortizing in 2007,

Acquisitions

In April 2006, the Company completed its acquisition of
Latin America CRQO International Clinical Research Limited
("IC-Research”) and related companies. IC-Research is a
leading CRO in Latin America with operations in Argentina,
Brazil, Chile and Colombia. The acquisition supports
the Company's goal of strategic business expansion and
diversification in high-growth regions to deliver global clinical
trials for its customers. The acquisiticn closed in April 2006.
The aggregate purchase price was approximately $927,000
in cash, including acquisition costs and net of cash acquired.
In addition, there is an earnout provision, with a maximum
additional amount to be paid of $260,000 as well as an
additional contingent payment of $100,000.

In August 2006, the Company acquired the Phase II-IV
Clinical Services business of Charles River Laboratories
International, Inc. (*CRL Clinical Services"). The acquisition
is expected to strengthen the Company's pasition as one of
the leading global players in the clinical development industry,

adding therapevtic expertise, diversifying its customer base
and expanding its capacity to defliver large global trials. The
purchase price perthe purchase agreementwasapproximately
$215 million in cash plus a working capital adjustment in
which the Company pays for any working capital in excess of
$2.0 million. The total preliminary purchase price, including
acquisition costs, was approximately $231 million, net of
cash acquired. The working capital adjustment is preliminary
and subject to change. The acquired business is part of the
Company's Late Stage segment. The Company financed the
purchase with $200 million in term debt as well as its existing
cash and proceeds from available-for-sale securities.

The results of operations for these acquisitions are included
in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations
from the dates of acquisition.

Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2006, Compared With
Year Ended December 31, 2005

Net service revenues increased 40% to $283.5 miflion for
2006 from $202.0 million in 2005. The 40% increase includes
a 1% increase dué to the impact of foreign currency exchange
rate fluctuations. Of the 40% increase in net service revenues,
approximately 23% resulted from organic growth with the
remainder of the growth due to the Company'’s acquisitions,
primarily the August acquisition of CRL Clinical Services.

Net services revenues in the Early Stage segment were
approximately $23.3 million in 2006 and $24.0 million in
2005, Net service revenues at the Company's Phase | unit
in Morgantown, West Virginia declined by approximately
$475,000 with the remainder of the decline at the Company’s
Phase | unitin The Netherfands. Net services revenues in the
Late Stage segment grew by approximately 46% tc $255.0
million in 2006 from $174.6 million in 2005. This growth
was driven by an expanded customer base as well as the
Company's ability to secure additional large, global studies
in 2006.-

Net service revenues in North America and Europe increased
by 41% and 38%, respectively, in 2006 compared to 2005



due to strong demand in Phase II-IV services, an increased
customer base and the impact of the CRL Clinical Services
acquisition. Net services revenues in Latin America increased
by approximately 95% to $10.2 million due to the April IC-
Research acquisition and the increased demand for work out
of the Company's Mexico office as the Company continues
1¢ grow its data management services in Mexico.

Approximately 45% of the Company’s net service revenues in
both 2006 and 2005 were derived from its operations outside
of North America. Revenues from the Company’s top five
customers accounted for approximately 28% and 34% of net
service revenues in 2006 and 2005, respectively. Net service
revenues from Pfizer Inc. accounted for approximately 2%
of the total 2006 net service revenues as compared to 15%
for 2005. The Company's net service revenues from Pfizer
Inc. are derived from numerous projects that vary in size,
duration and therapeutic indication. No other customer
accounted for more than 0% of the Company’s net service
revenues in either 2006 or 2005. '

Reimbursable Out-of-Pocket Revenues

Reimbursable out-of-pocket revenues fluctuate from period
to period due primarily to the level of investigator activity
in a particular period. Reimbursable out-of-pocket revenues
increased 86% to $90.5 million in 2006 from $48.6 million
in 2005. Approximately 26% of the growth in reimbursable
out-of-pocket revenues was due to growth from the CRL
Clinical Services acquisition. The remainder of the increase is
due primarily to an increase in the number of studies in which
the Company is administering investigator payments as well
as to an increase in size of those studies.

Operating Expenses _

Direct costs increased by 41% from $108.6 million in 2005
to $152.8 million in 2006, including a 22% increase in direct
costs due to the acquisition of CRL Clinical Services. The
increase in direct costs corresponds to the increase in net
service revenues. The Company increased the use of outside
contractors in 2006 to support the increase in project
work. Direct costs as a percentage of net service revenues
were 53.9% and 53.7% in 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Direct costs as a percentage of revenues in the Eariy Stage

segment increased from 56.1% in 2005 to 58.8% in 2005,
The increase in direct costs as a percentage of Early Stage
segment revenues is due to increasing fixed costs at the Early
Stage facilities, primarily increased personnel costs, without a
corresponding increase in revenue. Billable headcount at the
Early Stage facilities increased by approximately 0% from
2005 to 2006. Direct costs as a percentage of net services
revenues in the Late Stage segment were 53.5% in 2005
compared to 53.4% in 2005.

Reimbursable out-of-pocket costs fluctuate from period
to period due primarily to the level of investigator activity
in a particular period. Reimbursable out-of-pocket costs
increased 86% to $90.5 million in 2006 from $48.6 million
in 2005, Approximately 26% of the growth in reimbursable
out-of-pocket costs was due to growth from the CRL Clinical
Services acquisition. The increase is due primarily to an
increase in the number of studies in which the Company is
administering investigator payments as well as an increase in
size of those studies.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased
by 35%, including a 14% increase due to the acquisition
of CRL Clinical Services, to $91.8 million in 2006 from
$68.2 million in 2005. Primary reasons for the increase in
SG&A costs included increases in employee-related costs
such as increased salaries, profit-sharing accrual and sales
commissions. In addition, recruiting and retention costs
increased, including recruiting costs of approximately $1.3
million in 2006 o recruit certain executive positions, project
leaders and clinical research associates. Aiso, the Company
recorded approximately $1.2 million in expenses related to
the integration of the CRL Clinical Services acquisition and an
additional $794,000 in severance costs related primarily to
the acquisition. Finally, the Company recorded stock-based
compensation of approximately $1.5 million in 2006 due to
the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
FAS 123(R). In fourth quarter 2005, the Company recorded
a bad debt reserve of approximately $1.7 million associated
with one study being managed out of the Company’s offices
in the United Kingdom. Selling, general and administrative
costs as a percentage of net services revenues were 32.5% in
2006 compared to 33.8% in 2005.




In 2006, the Company recorded an $8.2 million impairment
charge on a %|5 million customer relationship intangible
asset that was acquired in the Company's 2002 acquisition
of Clinical and Pharmacologic Research, Inc. {CPR} in
Morgantown, West Virginia. The intangible asset represents
one customer relationship which due to its characteristics
was considered to have an indefinite life and was subject to
annual impairment testing. The fair value of the intangible at
December 31, 2006, was calculated by using a discounted
cash flow mode!. Due to declining revenue in 2006 from
this customer at the Morgantown facility as well as budgeted
revenues for 2007 and future projected revenues that are at
lesser levels than historically experienced from this customer,
the Company determined that the customer relationship was
impaired. As a result of this impairment charge, the Company
has assigned a 23-year useful life to the customer relaticnship
and will begin amortizing this intangible in 2007,

Depreciation and amortization increased by $2.4 million, or
30%. in 2006, from $8.0 million in 2005 to $!0.4 million in
2006. This increase was due to increased amortization of
acquired-intangibles as well as increased depreciation on
fixed asset purchases.

Income from operations for 2006 increased to $20.0 million
or 7.1% of net service revenues up from $17.2 million or 8.5%
of net services revenues for 2005. Income from operations
from Kendle's Early Stage segment was a negative $2.5
million in 2006 due to an $8.2 million impairment charge
on a customer relationship intangible asset acquired in the
Company's 2002 acquisition of a Phase { unit in Morgantown,
West Virginia. Including the $8.2 million impairment charge
(which was 35.2% of Early Stage net service revenues)
income from Early Stage operations was negative 10.6% of
Early Stage net services revenues for 2006 compared to
income from Early Stage operations of 31.9% of Early Stage
net service revenues for 2005, The decrease in operating
margin as a percentiage of net service revenue was also
driven by study delays at the Cempany's Phase | unit in
Morgantown, West Virginia, resulting in a lower revenue
base to absorb fixed costs.

_ Income from operations from the Company’s Late Stage

segment increased $28.8 million, or 78%, to $65.8 million or
25.8% of Late Stage net service revenues for 2006 up from
approximately $37.0 million or 21.2% of net service revenues
for the corresponding period in 2005. Growth- in the Late
Stage segment was driven by strong performance in both
Europe and the Americas as well as the acquisition of CRL
Clinical Services. Inthe second quarter of 2006, the Company
recorded a charge to provide additional study services to
resolve non-medical customer concerns over one study. The
charge reduced revenue by approximately $800,000 and
increased direct costs by approximately $700,000.

Other Income

Total other income (expense) was expense of $6.6 million
in 2006 compared to income of approximately $0.6 million
in 2005. In 2006, the Company incurred interest expense
of approximately $6.8 million compared to expense of
approximately $460,000 in 2005. The increased interest
expense is a result of the interest on the $200 million in
debt used to finance the August acquisition of CRL Clinical
Services. In 2006 the Company recorded foreign currency
transaction losses of approximately $1.6 million as a result
of fluctuations between the British Pound and the Euro and
between the U.S. dollar and either the Euro or the British
Pound. These transaction losses are due to the Company's
holding assets in a currency other than the functional currency
of the reporting location and are increased partially due to the
acquisition of CRL Clinical Services as the acquired European
subsidiaries maintain significant dollar denominated assets.
In 2005, these ioreign currency transaction losses were
approximately $79,000. In 2005, the Company made a final
partial early repayment on its convertible note and recorded
a gain of approximately $300,000. Interest income in 2006
was approximately $1.9 million compared to approximately
$1.0 million in 2005. The increased interest income is due to
larger cash and investment balances in the first seven months
of 2006 as well as increased interest rates.

Income Taxes

The Company recorded tax expense at an effective rate of
approximately 36% in 2006 compared to approximately 40%
in 2005. The drop in the income tax rate in 2006 is due
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to the distribution of income among the Company's non-
U.S. subsidiaries as well as a drop in state and local taxes in
2006. In the second quarter of 2005, the Company recorded
a one-time, non-cash charge of approximately $1.2 million,
net of federal income tax effect, to reflect the write-off of
deferred state income tax assets due to a change in Chio
state tax law enacted on June 30, 2005. The one-time
charge results from adoption of a comprehensive change
in Ohio corporate tax laws that provides for the phase-in
of a Commercial Activities Tax (CAT) on gross receipts.
Concurrent with the phase-in of the CAT, the Chio income
tax, net worth tax and personal property tax will be phased
out. In the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company recorded
a tax charge of approximately $921,000 related to the tax
effect of a dividend declared in the course of setting up an
intercompany note between the Company's German and
LLS, entities. In 2006, the Company also recorded a valuation
allowance of approximately $230,000 related to state and
local net operating loss carryforwards. In the fourth quarter
of 2005, the Company reversed a previously established
valuation allowance of $820,000 associated with future tax
benefits in The Netherlands. Because Kendle operates on a
global basis, the effective tax rate may vary from year to year
based on the locations that generate the pre-tax earnings.

Net Income

The net income for 2006, including the effects of the
stock-based compensation, amortization of 2006 acquired
intangibles, severance costs, acguisition-related expenses,
the intangible impairment charge and state tax valuation
allowances (items totaling approximately $9.2 million, or
$0.62 per diluted share) was approximately $8.5 million,
or $0.58 per diluted share and $0.60 per basic share. The
net income for 2005, including the effects of the bad debt
reserve, the reversal of the tax valuation allowance, the gain
on debt extinguishment and the write-off of the deferred
state income taxes (items totaling approximately $1.8 million,
or $0.12 per diluted share) was approximately $10.7 million
or $0.76 per diluted share and $0.79 per basic share.

Year Ended December 31, 2005, Compared With |

Year Ended December 31, 2004

Net service revenues increased 7% to $202.0 million for

Kendle

2005 from $172.9 million in 2004. Foreign currency exchange
rate variances had minimal impact on revenue. The (7%
increase in net service revenues resulted entirely from
organic growth. Net service revenues in North America
increased by 15% in 2005 compared to 2004 due to strong
demand for Late Stage services and an increased customer
base. Net services revenues in Europe increased by 24%
in 2005 compared to 2004, including revenue growth of
approximately 58% at the Company's Phase | unit in The
Netherlands due to continued increased customer demand
for Early Stage services in 2005.

Net service revenues in the Early Stage segment grew by
approximately 32%, or $5.8 million, in 2005 compared to
2004. The growth in Early Stage revenues was primarily
due to the growth at the Company's Phase | unit in The
Netherlands as global demand for Phase | services increased
in 2005. Net service revenues in the Late Stage segment grew
by approximately 16%, or $23.6 million, in 2005 compared
to 2004. The growth in Late Stage net service revenues was
due 1o strong growth in both Europe and North America as
the Company expanded its customer base and increased the
size of its project portfolio.

Approximately 43% of the Company’s net service revenues
in 2005 were derived from its operations outside of North
America as compared to 41% in 2004. Revenues from the
Company's top five customers accounted for approximately
34% and 39% of net service revenues in 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Net service revenues from Pfizer Inc. accounted
for approximately 15% of the total 2005 net service revenues
as compared to 20% for 2004. The Company's net service
revenues from Pfizer Inc. are derived from numerous
projects that vary in size, duration and therapeutic indication.
No other customer accounted for more than 10% of the
Company's net service revenues in either 2005 or 2004,

Reimbursable Qut-of-Pocket Revenues _

Reimbursable out-of-pocket revenues fluctuate from period
to period due primarily to the level of investigator activity
in a particular period. Reimbursable out-of-pocket revenues
increased 13.1% to $48.6 million in 2005 from $43.0 million
in 2004, The increase is due primarily to an increase in the
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number of contracts in which the Company is administering
payments to investigators on behalf of the Company's
customers.

Operating Expenses _ .

Direct cosis increased by 12% from $96.9 million in 2004
to $108.6 million in 2005, Foreign currency exchange rate
variances fad minimal impact on direct costs. The increase
in direct costs corresponds to the increase in net service
revenues. The Company increased the use of outside
contractors in 2005 to support the increase in project
waork. Direct costs as a percentage of net service revenues
were 53.7% and 56.1% in 2005 and 2004, respectively.
The decrease in direct costs as a percentage of net service
revenues is attributable primarily to increased utilization of
billable employees as well as an increased revenue base to
absorb fixed costs,

Reimbursable out-of-pocket costs fluctuate from period to
period due primarily to the level of investigator activity in a
particular period. Reimbursable out-of-pocket costsincreased
13.19 to $48.6 miillion in 2005 from $43.0 million in 2004.
The increase is due primarily to an increase in the number of
contracts in which the Company is administering payments
1o investigators on behalf of the Company's customers.

Selling, general and adminisirative expenses increased by 14%
10 $68.2 million in 2005 from $59.8 million in 2004. Foreign
currency exchange rate variances had minimal impact on
SG&A expenses. Primary reasons for the increase in SG&A
costs included increased costs related to the Company's
marketing initiative and increases in employee-related costs,
including increases in profit-sharing accrual, sales commissions
and recruiting and retention efforts. In addition, in the
fourth quarter of 2005, the Company recorded a bad debt
reserve of approximately §1.7 million associated with one
study being managed out of the Company’s offices in the
United Kingdom. Selling, general and administrative cosis as
a percentage of net services revenues were 33.8% in 2005
compared to 34.6% in 2004,

Depreciation and amortization decreased by $1.2 millien in
2005, or 13% from 2004. This decrease was due to a reduction

in depreciation expense as fixed assets approached the end
of their depreciable life as well as a slowdown in additions to
fixed assets as compared to prior periods.

In the first quarter of 2004, 1o align the Company's resources
to meet customer need and demand projections, the
Company implemented a workforce realignment plan, which
resulted in a pre-tax charge of approximately $254,000 for
severance and outplacement benefits. In the second quarter
of 2004, the Company incurred an additional $48,000 in costs
related to this workforce realignment plan. This workforce
realignment plan affected approximately 3 percent of the
Company's North American workforce. All ameounts related
to this plan were paid in the second quarter of 2004 and
no amounts remained accrued at December 31, 2004, No
similar charge existed in 2005,

Income from operations increased by $10.5 million, or
approximately 157%. from $6.7 million in 2004 to $17.2
million in 2005. Income from operatians from the Early Stage
segment grew to $7.6 million in 2005 from $5.2 miliion in
2004. The increase in income from operations in the Early
Stage segment was due to growth in income from operations
at the Company's Phase | operation in The Netherlands
offset by a decrease of approximately $500,000 in operating
income at the Company's Phase | operation in Morgantown,
West Virginia. The decrease in operating income at the
Morgantown location was due to a smaller revenue base
t0 absorb direct costs due to siudy delays at the unit.
Income from operations from the Late Stage segment grew
by approximately $11.4 millicn, or 45%, to $37.0 miflion in
2005 from $25.6 million in 2004. Growth in income from
operations occurred in both North America and Europe due
10 an expanded revenue base to cover costs. Income from
operations in the Late Stage segment was approximately 21%
of net service revenues in 2005 compared to 17% of net
service revenues in 2004,

Otker Income

Total other income {expense) was income of $0.6 million in
2005 compared to an expense of approximately $0.7 million
in 2004. In 2005 the Company recorded foreign currency
transaction losses of approximately $79,000 as a result of



fluctuations between the British Pound and the Euro and
between the U.S. dollar and either the Euro or the British
Pound. In 2004, these foreign currency transaction losses
were approximately $591,000. In 2005, the Company made
a final partial early repayment on its convertible note and
recorded a gain of approximately $300,000. Similar payments
in 2004 resulted in gains of approximately $597,000. interest
income in 2005 was approximately $1.0 million compared
to approximately $400,000 in 2004. The increased interest
income is due to larger cash and investment balances in
2005 as well as increased interest rates. Interest expense
decreased to approximately $460,000 in 2005 compared to
$776.000 in 2004 due to lower debt balances outstanding
in 2005.

Income Taxes

The Company recorded tax expense at an effective rate
of approximately 40% in 2005 compared to approximately
41% in 2004, In the second quarter of 2005, the Company
recorded a one-time, non-cash charge of approximately $1.2
million, net of faderal income tax effect, to reflect the write-
off of deferred state income tax assets due to a change in
Ohio state tax law enacted on June 30, 2005. The one-time
charge results from adoption of a comprehensive change
in Ohio corporate tax iaws that provides for the phase-in
of a Cdmmercial Activities Tax (CAT) on gross receipts.
Concurrent with the phase-in of the CAT, the Ohio income
tax, net worth tax, and personal property tax will be phased
out. In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company reversed
a previously established wvaluation allowance of $820,000
associated with future tax benefits in The Netherlands.
Because Kendle operates con a global basis, the effective tax
rate may vary from year to year based on the locations that
generate the pre-tax earnings.

Net Income

The net income for 2005, including the effects of the bad
debt reserve, the reversal of the tax valuation allowance,
the gain on debt extinguishment and the write-off of the
deferred state income taxes (of approximately $1.8 million,
or $0.12 per share) was approximately $10.7 million or $0.76
per diluted share and $0.79 per basic share. The net income
for 2004, including the effects of the severance charge and

gain from debt extinguishment (of approximately $177,000
or $0.02 per share), was approximately $3.6 million or $0.27
per basic and diluted share.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In 2006, cash and cash equivalents decreased by $17.5
million as a result of cash provided by operating activities
of $17.6 million offset by cash used in investing activities
of $230.0 million and cash provided by financing activities
of $194.0 million. In addition, the Company has restricted
cash of approximately $2.4 million, which represents cash
received from customers that is segregated in a separate
Company bank account and available for use only for specific
project-related expenses, primarily investigator fees, upon
authorization from the customer.

Net cash provided by operating activities consisted primarily
of net income increased by non-cash adjustments (primarily
depreciation and amortization). The change in net operating
assets used $8.0 million in cash in 2006, primarily due to
an increase in accounts receivable and unbilled services,
partially offset by an increase in advanced billings and accrued
liabifities. The change in net operating assets provided $3.4
million in cash during 2005, due primarily to an increase in
advanced billings and accrued liabilines offset by an increase
in accounts receivable. Fluctuations in accounts receivable
and advance billings occur on a regular basis as services are
performed, milestones or other billing criteria are achieved,
invoices are sent to customers and payments for outstanding
accounts receivable are collected from customers. Accounts
receivable, net of advance billings, increased from $33.2
million at December 31, 2005, to $60.3 million at December
31, 2006. Approximately $t2.7 million of the 2006 increase
in net accounts receivable was due io the acquisition of CRL
Clinical Services.

Cash flows from investing activities for the year ended
December 31, 2006, consisted primarily of $231.9 million
cash used for the acquisitions of CRL Clinical Services and
IC-Research and capital expenditures of $8.8 million partialty
offset by net proceeds from the sale and maturity of available-
for-sale securities of $10.8 million. Cash flows from investing
activities for the year ended December 31, 2005, consisted



primarily of capital expenditures of $5.C miillion, primarily for
the purchase of new computer equipment and software for
newly hired employees.

Cash flows from financing activities for the year ended
December 31, 2006. consisted primarily of gross proceeds
from note payable of $200.0 million and proceeds from
stock optton activity of $3.5 million partially offset by
payments on debt of $4.3 million and debt issuance costs
of $5.6 million. Cash flows from financing activities for the
year ended December 31, 2005, consisied primarily of
proceeds from stock option exercises offset by payments
under the Company's credit facility of $2.9 million and a
partial repayment of the Company's convertible debt of
$1.2 million.

The Company had no available-for-sale securities at
December 31, 2006, and available-for-sale securities of $10.7
million at December 31, 2005,

Cash used for capital expenditures was $8.8 million,
$5.0 milion and $5.3 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

In August 2006, in conjunction with its acquisition of CRL
Clinical Services, the Company entered into a new credit
agreement {the “Facility”). The Facility is comprised of a
$200 million term foan that matures in August 2012 and a
$25 million revolving credit loan that expires in August 2011
The Company has the right to request an increase of up to
$15.0 million in the revolving loan amount. The Company
also maintains an existing $5.0 million Multicurrency Facility
that is renewable annually and is used in connection with the
Company's European operations.

The term loan has mandatory principal payments of $500,000
per quarter beginning with the fourth quarter of 2006. In
addition, at the end of each fiscal year commencing with the
fiscal year ending December 31, 2007, the Company must
prepay 50% of its excess cash flow for the year (as defined
in the Facility).

Interest on the term loan is variable based on a LIBOR rate
plus an applicable margin. The applicable margin is currently

‘at 2.75% and will vary based on the leverage ratio (as defined

in the agreement) of the Company. The interest rate in
effect on the term loan for the fourth quarter of 2006 was
approximately 8.10%. Within 210 days of the closing of the
credit agreement (by March 16, 2007), the Company must
enter into a hedge agreement to fix the interest rate on at
least 40% of the outstanding amount of the term loan for a
minimum of three years. The original agreement mandated
that the Company obtain interest rate protection in 120 days.
but this date was amended to 210 days. As of December 31,
2006 the Company had not entered into a hedge agreement,
but in February 2007 the Company entered into a hedge
agreement to fix the interest rate on a portion of the debt
via an interest rate swap/collar arrangement. The hedge
agreement does not qualify for hedge accounting treatment
under SFAS No. 133, and all changes in the fair market value
of the hedge will be recorded in the Company's Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

Interest on the revolving loan is also based on a LIBOR rate
plus an applicable margin.

The Facility contains various affirmative and negative
covenants including financial covenants regarding maximum
leverage ratio, minimum interest coverage ratio and
limitations on capital expenditures. The Company is in
compliance with the financial covenants contained in the
Facility as of December 31, 2006.

The Company incurred debt issuance costs of approximately
$5.6 million related to the Facility. Debt issuance costs are
presented as a compeonent of Other Assets in the Company's
Consolidated Balance Sheet and are amortized over the life
of the term loan or revolving credit loan.

At December 3[, 2006, no amounts were outstanding
under the Company's revolving credit loan, $199.5 million
was outstanding under the term loan and no amounts were
outstanding under the $5.0 million Multicurrency Facility.



With the acquisition of CPR in 2002, the Company
entered into a $6.0 million convertible note payable 1o
the sharehclders of CPR. [n June 2003, the Company and
the shareholders of CPR entered into Note Prepayment
Agreements, Under the Note Prepayment Agreements,
the Company agreed to satisfy its payment obligations
under the $6.0 million convertible note by making a series
of four payments between June 30, 2003, and January
10, 2005. Gains restlting from this early extinguishment
of debt were recorded in the Company's Consolidated
Statements of Operations when payments were made by
the Company. In the first quarter of 2005, the Company
paid approximately $1.2 million to settle the remaining
$1.5 million of the convertible note that was_outstanding
at Decermnber 31, 2004. A gain of $300,000 was recorded
in the first quarter of 2005 in the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Operations. No amounts remain outstanding
underthis convertibie note at December 31, 2005, or 2006.
The total gains resulting from early extinguishment of debt
since inception of the Note Prepayment Agreement were
approximately $1.5 million.

The Company's primary cash needs on both a short-term
and long-term basis are for the payment of salaries and fringe
benefits. hiring and recruiting expenses, business development
costs, capital expenditures, acquisitions and facility-related
expenses. The Company believes that its existing capital
resources, together with cash flows from operations and
borrowing capacity under the Facility and the Multicurrency
Facility, will be sufficient to meet its foreseeable cash needs.
In the future, the Company will continue to consider the
acquisition of businesses to enhance its service offerings,
therapeutic base and global presence. Any such acquisitions
may require additional external financings and the Company
may from time to time seek to obtain funds from public or
private issuances of equity or debt securities. There can be
no assurance that such financings will be available on terms
acceptable to the Company.

Contractual Obligations

Future minimum payments for all contractual obligations for

years subsequent to December 31, 2006, are as follows:

{In thousands) 2008- 2010- After
2007 2009 2011 20110 Total

Capital lzase

obligations

(including

interest) $ 20191% 350|% 8|5 —|% 49
Operating

Leases 14370 22,269 12,349 10959t 59947
Purchase

CObligations 535 —_ — — 535
Debt

payments* 2,000 20.500 33500 | 143500 199500
Interest on :

debt* 15650 27810 23475 6079 73014
Total $32774 | $70929 1% 569404 | $160.538 | $333.645

* Under the terms of the Company's credit agreement, the term loan has mandatory
prepayments of $500,000 per quarter. In addition, at the end of each fiscal year
commencing with the year ended December 3, 2007, the Company must prepay
50% of its excess cash flow for the year (as defined in the Facility). Excess cash flow
payments on the debt are estimated for purposes of the above table,

Short-term obligations arising in the ardinary course of
business are excluded from the above table,

The interest rate used in the calculation of interest was an
average rate of 742%. A 1% change in the interest rate would
increase or decrease the interest by approximately $5.5
million over the life of the term note.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of Americarequires management to make significant estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported Consolidated
Financial Statements for a particular period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

The majority of the Company's net service revenues are
based on fixed-price contracts czlculated on a percentage-
of-completion basis based upen assumptions regarding the
estimated iotal costs for each contract. Costs are incurred for
each project and compared to the estimated budgeted costs
for each contract to determine a percentage of completion
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on the project. The percentage of completion is multiplied
by the total contract value to determine the amount of
revenue recognized. Management regularly reviews the
budget on each contract to determine if the budgeted
amounts are correct, and budgets are adjusted as needed.
As the work progresses, onginal estimates might be changed
due to changes in the scope of the work. When estimates
indicate a loss, such loss is provided in the current period in
its entirety. The Company attempts to negotiate contract
amendments with the sponsor to cover services provided
outside the terms of the original contract. However, there
can be no guarantee that the sponsor will agree to proposed

amendments, and the Company ultimately bears the risk of .

cost overruns.

The Company also recognizes revenue under units-based
contracts, recognizing revenue as units are completed
multiplied by the contract per-unit price.

Amendments to contracts resulting in revisions to revenues
and costs are recognized in the period in which the revisions
are negotiated. Included in accounts receivable are unbilled
accounts receivable, which represent revenue recognized in
excess of amounts billed.

As the Company provides services on projects, it also incurs
third-party and other pass-through costs, which are typically
reimbursable by its customers pursuant to the contract.
In certain contracts, however, these costs are fixed by the
contract terms. In these contracts, the Company is at risk
for costs incurred in excess of the amounts fixed by the
contract terms. In these instances, the Company recognizes
these costs as direct costs with carresponding net service
revenues. Excess costs incurred above the contract terms
would negatively affect the Company's gross margin.

Business Combinations

SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, requires asseis
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination to
be recorded at fair value. Fair values are generally determined
by management with the assistance of third-party valuation
specialists using comparisons to market value transactions
and present value techniques. The use of a discounted cash

flow technique requires significant judgments with respect
to expected cash flows to be derived from the assets, the
estimated period of time the assets will produce those
cash flows and the selections of an appropriate discount
rate., Changes in such estimates could change the amounts
allocated to individual identifiable assets, the lives over which
the assigned values are amortized and the amounts allocated
to goodwill. While the Company believes its assumptions are
reasonable, if different assumptions were macde, the purchase
price allocation and the estimated useful lives of amortizable

~ assets could differ substantially from the reported amounts.

Results of operations for acquired entities are included
in the Company's resuits of cperations from the date of
acquisition.

Accounts Receivable/Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Billed accounts receivable represent amounts for which
invoices have been sent to customers. Unbilled accounts
receivable are amounts recognized as revenue for which
invoices have not yet been sent to customers. Advance
billings represent amounts billed or payment received for
which revenues have not yet been earned. The Company
maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts receivable based
on historical evidence of accounts receivable collections and
specific identification of accounts receivable that might pose
collection problems. The bad debt provision is monitored on
a regular basis and adjusted as circumstances warrant. In the
fourth quarter of 2005, the Company recorded a bad debt
provision of approximately 1.7 million related to receivables
due from one customer With the exception of the $1.7
million write-off referenced above, the Company's allowance
for doubtful accounts receivable has been sufficient to cover
any bad debt write-oifs. If the Company is unable to collect
all or part of its outstanding receivables, there could be a
material impact to the Company's Consolidated Results of
Operations or financial position.

Long-Lived Assets

The Cempany analyzes goodwill and other indefinite-lived
intangible assets to determine any potential impairment loss
on an annual basis, unless conditions exist that require an



updated analysis on an interim basis. A fair value approach is
usediotest goodwill forimpairment. The goodwillimpairment
testing involves the use of estimates related to the fair market
value of the reporting unit and is inherently subjective. An
impairment charge is recognized for the amount, if any, by
which the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds fair value. At
December 31, 2005, and December 31, 2006, the fair value
of the reporting units exceeded the carrying value, resulting
in no goodwill impairment charge.

In addition, the Company has an intangible asset representing
one customer relationship acquired in the Company's
acquisition of CPR. The value of this customer relationship
had been $15 million prior to the fourth quarter of 2006
and the useful life had been designated as indefinite. Due to
declining revenue from this custoemer in 2006 and declining
revenue projected for 2007 and future years, the Company
determined that the asset was impaired and recorded an
$8.2 million impairment charge in 2006, Effective January I,
2007, the Company has assigned a 23-year useful life to the
customer relatianship.

Internally Developed Software

The Company capitalizes costs incurred to internally develop
software used primarily in the Company’s proprietary clinical
trial and data management systems, and amortizes these
costs over the useful life of the product, not to exceed five
years. Internally developed software represents software in
the application development stage, and there is no assurance
that the software development process will produce a final
product for which the fair value exceeds its carrying value.
Internally developed software is an intangible asset subject
to impairment write-downs whenever events indicate that
the carrying value of the software may not be recoverable.
As with other long-lived assets, this asset is reviewed at least
annually to determine the appropriateness of the carrying
value of the asset. Assessing the fair value of the internally
developed software requires estimates and judgment on the
part of management.

Tax Valuation Allowance
The Company estimates its tax liability based on current
tax laws in the statutory jurisdictions in which it operates.

Because the Company conducts business on a global basis,
its effective tax rate has and will continue to depend upon
the geographic distribution of its pre-tax earnings (losses)
among jurisdictions with varying tax rates. These estimates
include judgments about deferred tax assets and liabilities
resulting from temporary differences between assets and
liabilities recognized for financial reporting purposes and such
amounts recognized for, tax purposes. The Company has
assessed the realization of deferred tax assets and a valuation
allowance has been established based on an assessment that
it is more likely than not that realization cannot be assured.
The ultimate realization of this tax benefit is dependent
upon the generation of sufficient operating income in the
respective tax jurisdictions. If estimates prove inaccurate or
if the tax laws change unfavorably, significant revisions in the
valuation allowance may be required in the future.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
("SFAS No. 157") "Fair Value Measurements” ("SFAS 157").
SFAS 157 provides a new single authoritative definition of fair
value and provides enhanced guidance for measuring the fair
value of assets and liabilities and requires additional disclosures
related to the extent to which companies measure assets and
liabilities at fair value, the information used to measure fair
value and the effect of fair value measurements on earnings.
SFAS 157 is effective for the Company as of January |, 2008.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158
"Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB
Staternents No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)" (“SFAS 158"). SFAS
t58 requires balance sheet recognition of the overfunded or
underfunded status of pension and postretirement benefit
plans. Under SFAS 158, actuarial gains and losses, prior
service costs or credits, and any remaining transition assets
or abligations that have not been recognized under previous
accounting standards must be recognized as a component
of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within
stockholders’ equity, net of tax effects., until they are
amortized as a component of net periodic benefit cost. In
addition, the measurement date and the date at which plan
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assets and the benefit obligation are measured, are required
to be the company's fiscal year end. SFAS 158 is effective as
of the end of the fiscal year ending after December 31, 2006.
The adoption of SFAS 158 did not have an impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

tn September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 108 ("SAB 108™), "Considering the Effects of
Prior Year Misstaternents when Quantifying Misstatements
in Current Year Financial Statements.” SAB 108 is effective
for fiscal years ending on or after November 15, 2006,
and addresses consideration and treatment of rmaterial
financial statement errors that should be considered from
a materiality perspective and corrected. The literature
provides interpretive guidance on how the effects of the
carryover or reversal of prior year misstatements should be
considered in quantifying a current year misstatement. The
adoption of the provisions of SAB 108 did not have zn impact
on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

!n June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN™)
No. 48 "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an
interpretation of FASB Statement 109" FIN 48 establishes
a single model to address accounting for uncertainty in tax
positions. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for income taxes by
prescribing a minimum recognition threshold a tax position
is required to meet before being recognized in the financial
statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on de-recognition,
measurement, classification, interest and penalties, accounting
in interim periods, disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December |5, 2006, Kendle
will adopt FIN 48 as of January [, 2007, as required. The
Company continues to evaluate the impact of the adoption
of FIN 48. The cumulative impact of applying the provisions
of FIN 48 will be reported as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFASY No. 123(R), "Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123(R)).
SFAS 123(R) requires that compensation costs related to
share-based payment transactions be recognized in the
financial statements. The cost will be measured based on
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the fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued.
SFAS 123(R) covers a range of share-based compensation
arrangements, including share options, restricted stock
plans, performance-based awards, share appredciation rights
and employee stock purchase plans. SFAS 123(R} replaces
SFAS 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” and
supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees.” In April 2005, the Securities and Exchange
Commission announced the adoption of a new rule that
amends the effective date of SFAS 123(R). The effective date
of the new standard under these new rules for the Company's
Consolidated Financial Statements was January |, 2006. The
Company adopted SFAS [23(R) on January |, 2006, using
the modified prospective method in which compensation
expense is recognized based on the requirement of SFAS
[23(R} for all share-based payments granted after January
[, 2006, and based on the requirements of SFAS 123 for all
awards granted to employees prior to January [, 2006. In
the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, the Company
recorded approximately $1.5 millicn related to the expensing
of options under SFAS 123. :
Cautionary Statement for Forward-Looking
Information

Certain statements contained in this Form 10-K that are not
historical facts constitute forward-looking statements within
the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995 and are intended to be covered by the safe harbors
created by that Act. Reliance should not be placed on
forward-looking statements because they involve known
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may
cause actual results, performance or achievernents to differ
materially from those expressed or implied. Any forward-
looking statement speaks only as of the date made. The
Company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-
looking statements to reflect events or circumstances arising
after the date on which they are made.

Statements concerning expected financial performance, on-
going business strategies and possible future action which the
Company intends to pursue to achieve strategic objectives
constitute forward-looking information.  Implementation
of these stra‘tegies and the achievement of such financial



performance are each subject to numerous conditions,
uncertainties and risk factors,

Factors that could cause actual performance to differ
materially from these forward-looking statements include
those risk factors set forth in tem 1A of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form [C-K and in the Company's other
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk

Foreign Currency

The Company cperates cn a global basis and is therefore
exposed to various types of currency risks. Two specific
transaction risks arise from the nature of the contracts the
Company executes with its customers. From time to time
contracts are denominated in a currency different than the
particular local currency. This contract currency denomination
issue is applicable only to a portion of the contracts executed
by the Company. The first risk occurs as revenue recognized
for services rendered is denominated in a currency different
from the currency in which the subsidiary’s expenses are
incurred. As a result, the subsidiary's net service revenues
and resulting net income can be affected by {luctuaticns in
exchange rates.

The second risk results from the passage of time between
the invoicing of customers under these contracts and the
ultimate collection of customer payments against such
invoices. Because the cantract is denominated in a currency
other than the subsidiary’s local currency, the Company
recognizes a receivable at the time of invoicing at the local
currency equivalent of the foreign currency invoice amount.
Changes in exchange rates from the time the invoice is
prepared untit the payment from the customer is received
will result in the Company receiving either more or less
in local currency than the local currency equivalent of the
invoice amount at the time the invoice was prepared and the
receivable established. This difference is recognized by the
Company as a foreign currency transaction gain or loss, as
applicable, and is reported in Other Income (Expense) in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Campany's Consolidated Financial Statements are
denominated in U.S. dollars. Accordingly, changes in exchange
rates between the applicabie foreign currency and the U.S.
dollar will affect the translation of each foreign subsidiary’s
financial results into U.S. dollars for purposes of reporting
Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company's foreign
subsidiaries translate their financial results from local currency
into U.S. dollars as follows: income statement accounts are
translated at average exchange rates for the period; balance
sheet asset and liability accounts are translated at end-of-
period exchange rates; and equity accounts are translated at
historical exchange rates. Translation of the balance sheet in
this manner affects the shareholders’ equity account referred
to as the foreign currency translation adjustment account.
This account exists only in the foreign subsidiaries” U.S. dollar
balance sheet and is necessary to keep the foreign subsidiaries’
balance sheetstatedin U.S. dollarsinbalance. Foreign currency
translation adjustments, reported as a separate component
of shareholders’ equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet,
were approximately $2.3 million at December 31, 2006,
compared to $64.000 at December 31, 2005.

Interest Rates

The Company is exposed to changes in interest rates on its
amounts outstanding under the Facility and Multicurrency
Facility.



Independent Auditors Report

Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Kendle Internationdl, Inc,,
Cincinnati, Ohio

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets of Kendle International, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company") as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the
related consclidated statements of operations, shareholders”
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended Decemnber 31, 2006. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {(United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present

fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the resulis
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

As discussed in Note | to the financial statements, effective
January |, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 123(R), "Share-Based Payment”.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsaring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission and our report {not presented
herein) dated March 16, 2007 expressed an unqualified
opinion on management's assessment of the effectiveness of
the Company's internal control over financial reporting and
an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control over financial reporting.

De\oie <, \ovcle LD

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Cincinnati, Ohio
March 16, 2007




Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share data)

For the years ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
Met service revenues 183471 202,032 172,888
Reimbursable cut-of-pocket revenues 50465 48,607 42980
Total revenues 373936 250,639 215868
Cost and expenses:
Direct costs 152,826 108,582 96,909
Reimbursable cut-of-pocket costs 90465 48,607 42980
Selling, general and administrative 31,796 68216 59,797
Depreciation and amortization 10,403 7991 9,175
Employee severance and office consolidation costs 236 — 302
Intangible impairment charge 8,200 — —
Total costs and expenses 353926 233,396 205,163
Income from operations 20010 17,243 6,705
Other income (expense):
Interest income 1939 1019 400
Interest expense {6,781} (460) (776}
Other (1.795) (287) (873)
Gain on debt extinguishment — 300 597
Total other income {expenses) (6,637) 572 {652)
Income before income taxes 13,373 17815 6,053
Income taxes 4,843 7141 2,481
Net income 8,530 10,674 3.572
Income per share data:
Basic:
Net income per share 0.60 0.7% 027
Weighted average shares 14,323 13,572 13,166
Diluted: ' )
Net income per share 058 076 027
WWeighted average shares 14,762 14,120 13391

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Staternents.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

{In thousands, except per share data)

December 31, 2006 2005
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 3 19917 % 37437
Restricted cash ) 2,395 592
Awvailable-for-sale securities — 10,726
Accounts receivable 122,680 65,112
Other current assets 21,684 10,083
Total current assets 166,676 123950
Property and equipment, net 23,024 15,084
Goodwill 229,598 24075
Other finite-lived intangible assets 24,227 5
Other indefinite-lived intangible assets — [5.000
Long-term deferred tax asset 3181 2213
Other assets 8366 392
Total assets $ 455072 | $ 184,759
Liabilities and Sharehalders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of cbligations under capital leases % 195 1% 391
Current portion of amounts outstanding under credit facilities 2000 , 3000
Trade payables 15,150 2,174
Advance billings 62,427 31,958
Other accrued liabilities 30,50¢ 15435
Total current liabilities 110,272 59958
Otligations under capital leases, less current portion 404 431
Long-term debt 197,500 750
Deferred income taxes payable 760 484
Other liabilities 6024 632
Totzl liabilities 314,960 62,255
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock—no par value; | 00,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding
Common stock—no par value; 45,000,000 shares zuthorized; |4“i45,393 and 14,105,653 shares issued
and 14,422,341 and 14,085,756 outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively 75 75
Additional paid-in capital 154.641 147,712
Accumulated deficit (16392) (24922}
Accumulated other comprehensive income:
iNet unrealized holding loss on avalable-for-sale securities -— (3%}
Unrealized gain on interest rate swap — 7
Foreign currency translation adjustment 2.280 64
Total accumulated other comprehensive income 2280 32
Less: Cost of Commeon Stock held in treasury, 23,052 and 19,897 shares at December 31,2006 and 2005, respectively (192) (393)
Total shareholders’ equity ' 140,112 122,504
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 4550721 % 184,759

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
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(In thousands, except per share data) S 3 S E <0 2 282 |$8El o8 S e
Balance at January |, 2004 13,0600151% 75| $135034 {$(393) [$ (39.168) |$ 821 | 96369
Net income 3572 3572 3572
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,549 1,549 1,549
Net unrealized holding losses on available-forsale securities,
net of tax (50} {50} (50
Net unrealized holding gains on interest rate swap agreement 258 258 258
Comprehensive income ’ 5329
Shares issued under stock plans 182914 985 985
Deferred compensation - restricted stock {116} (118}
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock options 208 208
Balance at December 31,2004 13242929 (3 75| 136111 | $(393) [$ (35596)| % 2.578 [ § 102,775
Net income 10674| 10674 10674
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adjustment (2,655} (2,655) | (2.655)
Net unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale securities,
net of tax 10 10 10
Net unrealized holding gains on interest rate swap agreement 99 99 39
Comprehensive income 8,128
Shares issued under stock plans 842,827 9.633 9.633
Deferred compensation - restricted stock (66) (66)
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock options 2034 2034
Balance at December 31, 2005 14085756 | $ 75 {3 147712 |$(393) | % (249223 [ $ 32 | $ 122504
Net income 8,530 8530 8530
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adjustment 2217 2217 2217
Pertion of prior year unrealized loss recognized in current year,
net of tax 34 34 34
Realized holding loss on available-for-sale securities, net of tax 5 5 5
Net unrealized holding gains on interest rate swap agreement (8) (8) (8)
Comprehensive income 10778
Shares issued under stock plans 336,585 4271 4271
Stock option expense 1,490 1,490
Deferred compensation - restricted stock (19) (1%
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock eptions 1,187 1,187
Treasury stock transaction 99 (99)
Bafance at December 31, 2006 14422341 | $ 758154641 ($(492) [$ (16392)|$ 2,280 | § 140,112

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements,



Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

{In thousands}
! For the Years Ended December 31,

| -Net income

. 2006 2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities .
8330 10,674 3572
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 10,403 79%1 9,175
Goodwill and investment impairment 8,200 — —
Deaferred income taxes (3.967) 1416 514
Income tax benefit from stock option exercises (898) — —
Compensation expense on stock grants 1.879 78 71
Cther 522 91 518
Gain on convertible note repayment — (300) (597)
Changes in cperating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:
Restricted cash (441) 293 804
Accounts receivable (18595) (9.562) (10.727}
Other current assets (1.262) (385) (225}
Other assets (207) 256 (58)
Investigator and project costs (8.554) (766) 131
Trade payables 2806 355 3302
Advance billings 15,895 7471 786
Accrued liabilities and other 3650 5707 616
Net cash provided by operating activities 17,551 23319 7.882
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of available-for-sale securities (7.027) (9.552) 9419)
Proceeds from sale and maturity of available-for-sale securities 17868 9,050 7,885
Acquisitions of property and equipment (8,725) (4.732) (3.653)
Additions to internally developed soﬁWam €2} (233) (1.651)
Acquisitions of businesses, less cash acquired (231.879) — —
Other (153) 20 17
Net cash used in investing activities {230,007} (5,447) (6.827)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements,




Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

{In thousands)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2006 . 2005 2004
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 200,000 -— —
Payments of long-term debt {4.250) (2937) (3.024)
Payment of convertible note — (1.,200) (1.903)
Proceeds from issuance of Common Stock 3.505 7422 141
Income tax benefit from stock option exercises 898 — —=
Amounts payable - book overdraft (65} (353) 37
Payments on capital lease obligations (382) (6%1) (975)
Purchase of treasury stock (99) — —
Debt issue costs (5.568) (30 —
Net cash provided by (used in} financing activities 194,039 2211 (5434)
Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 897 @arn 294
Net increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (17.520) 19,772 _(4.085)
Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year 37,437 17,665 21,750
End of year $ 19217 | $ 37437 | % 17,665
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 6196 | $ 489 | ¢ 805
Cash paid (received) during the year for income taxes $ 7698 | % 3154 | % (°0)
Supplemenital schedule of noncash investing and financing activities
Acguisition of equipment under capital leases $ 184 | % —|% 938
Acquisitions of businesses:
Fair value of assets acquired via cash $ 266850 | % — |3 —
Fair value of fiabilities assumed or incurred $ (343713 | % — % —
Stock issued $ — 1% — |3 —
Net cash payments $ 231879 | % — 1% —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Censolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

|. Nature of Business and Significant
Accounting Policies

Nature of Business

Kendle International Inc., an Ohio corporaticn established
in 1989, is a global clinical research organization (CRO)
that provides a broad range of Phase |-V global clinical
development services to the biopharmaceutical industry. The
Company has operations in North America, Europe, Asia/
Pacific, Latin America and Africa.

Principles of Consolidation and Organization

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the financial
information of Kendle International Inc. and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. Investments in unconsolidated companies that
are at least 20% owned and in which the Company can
exercise significant influence, but not control, are carried at
cost plus equity in undistributed earnings since acquisition.
Investments in unconsolidated companies that are less than
20% owned and in which the Company cannot exercise
significant influence are carried at cost. There are no
significant amounts on the Consolidated Balance Sheet
related to investments in unconsolicated cor-npanies.

All intercompany accounts and transactions have been
* eliminated. The results of operations of the Company's wholly-
owned subsidiaries have been included in the Consolidated
Financial Statements of the Company from the respective
dates of acquisition.

Business Combinations

SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, reguires assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination to
be recorded at fair value. Fair values are generally determined
by independent appraisals using comparisons to market value
transactions and present value techniques. The use of a
discounted cash flow technique requires significant judgments
with respect to expected cash flows to be derived from the
assets, the estimated period of time the assets will produce
those cash flows and the selections of an appropriate discount
rate. Changes in such estimates could change the amounts
allocated to individual identifiable assets, the lives over which
the assigned values are amortized and the amounts allocated

2]

1o goodwill. While the Company believes its assumptions are
reasonable, if different assumptions were made, the purchase
price allocation and the estimated useful lives of amortizable
assets could differ substantially from the reported ameounts.

Results of operations for acquired entities are included
in the Company's results of operations from the date of
acquisition.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of the Company's wholly-owned
subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at year-end
exchange rates. Income statement accounts are translated
at average exchange rates for the year These translation
adjustments are recorded as a separate component of
shareholders’ equity. Foreign currency transaction gains
and losses are included in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Including Restricted
Cash

Cash and cash equivalents consist of demand deposits and
money market funds held with a financial institution, with an
initial maturity of three months or less.

The Company maintains its demand deposits with certain
financial institutions. The balance of one account from time-
to-time exceeds the maximum U.S. federally insured amount.
Additionally, there is no state insurance coverage on bank
balances held in The Netherlands.

At December 31, 2006, the Company held cash of
approximately $2.4 million that is restricted as to its use
as compared to approximately $592,000 in 2005. The
restricted cash represents cash received from customers
that is segregated in a separate Company bank account and
available for use only for specific project-refated expenses,
primarily investigator fees, upon authorization from the
customer,

In the Company’s consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company changed
the classificaticn of changes in restricted cash balances to
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present such changes as an operating activity. The Company
previously presented such changes as an investing activity.
In the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows
for the year 2005, the Company reclassified changes in
restricted cash balances to be consistent with the Company's
2006 presentation, which resulted in a $293,000 increase
in operating cash flows and a corresponding decrease in
investing cash flows from the amounts previously reported.

Available-for-Sale Securities

investments purchased with initial maturities greater than
three months are classified as available-for-sale securities and
consist of highly liquid debt securities. These securities are
stated in the Consolidated Financia! Statements at market
value. The Company’s investments represent the investment
of cash available for current operations and are therefore
classified as current assets inthe Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Realized gains and losses are included in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations, calculated based on a specific
identification basis. Unrealized gains and losses, net of tax
are reported as a separate component of shareholders’
equity. The Company had no available-for-sale securities at
December 31, 2006, compared to $10.7 million at December
31, 2005. The Company sold its existing available-for-sale
securities in August 2006 to help finance the purchase of
CRL Clinical Services.

Revenue Recognition

Net service revenues are earned by performing services
primarily under fixed-price contracts. Net service revenues
from cantracts are generally recognized on the percentage
of completion method, measured principally by the total
costs incurred as a percentage of estimated total costs for
each contract. This method is used because management
considers total costs incurred to be the best available measure
of progress on these contracts. The estimated total costs of
contracts are reviewed and revised periodically throughout
the lives of the contracts with adjustment to revenues resulting
from such revisions being recorded on a cumulative basis in
the period in which the revisions are made. Hence, the effect
of the changes on future periods of contract performance
is recognized as if the revised estimates had been the
-original estimates. When estimates indicate a loss, such loss

Kendle

is provided in the current period in its entirety. Because of
the uncertainties inherent in estimating costs, it is at least
reasonably possible that the estimates used will change in the
near term and could result in a material change. Work is also
performed under time-and-materials contracts, recognizing
revenue as hours are worked based on the hourly billing
rate for each contract. Additionally, the Company recognizes
revenue under units-based contracts by multiplying units
completed by the applicable contract per-unit price. Finally,
at one of the Company's subsidiaries, the coniracts are of
a short-term nature and revenue is recogrized under the
completed contract method of accounting.

Direct costs consist of compensation and refated fringe
benefits for project-related associates, unreimbursed
project-related costs and an allocated portion of indirect
costs including facilities, information systems and other costs.
Selling, general and administrative costs are charged to
expense as incurred.

Amendments to contracts resulting in revisions to revenues
and costs are recognized in the period in which the revisions
are negotiated. Included in accounts receivable are unbilled
accounts receivable, which represent revenue recognized in
excess of amounts billed. Advance billings represent amaunts
billed in excess of revenue recognized.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Accounts receivable represent amounts due from customers
that are concentrated mainly in the biopharmaceutical
industry, The concentration of credit risk is subject to the
financial and industry conditions of the Company’s customers.
The Company does not require collateral or other securities
to support customer receivables. The Company monitors
the creditworthiness of its custormers. Refer to Note 16 for
additional information regarding revenue concentration.

Long-Lived Assets

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net ofaccumulated
depreciation. Depreciation is computed over estimated
useful lives of five to {ifty years using the straight-line method.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of
the useful life of the improvement or the remaining term of
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the underlying lease. Repairs and maintenance are charged
to expense as incurred. Upon disposition, the asset and the
related accumulated depreciation are relieved and any gains
or losses are reflected in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

Useful lives by asset category can vary based on the nature of
the asset purchased. The following represents the maximum
useful lives for the below categories of assets:

Furniture and Fixtures 10 years

Equipment and Software 5 years

Lesser of estimated life of
asset or lease term

Leasehold Improvements

Buildings ’ 50 years

Lesser of estimated life of
asset or lease term

Capital Lease Assets

Equiprnent under capital leases is recorded at the present
vafue of future minimum lease payments and is amortized
over the estimated useful lives of the assets, not 1o exceed
the terms of the refated leases. Accumulated amortization
on equipment under capital leases was $1.7 million and $2.0
million at December 31, 2006, and 2005. respectively.

The Company capitalizes costs incurred internally o develop
software used primarily in the Company's proprietary clinical
trial and data management systems, and amortizes these costs
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the
preduct, not 1o exceed five years. Software costs incfuded in
the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2006, and
2005 were $15.8 million and $16.0 million, respectively. The
related accumulated amortization at Cecember 31, 2006,
and 2005 was $14.0 million and $12.9 million, respectively.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 144, "Accounting for Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” long-lived assets such as
property, plant and equipment, scftware and investments are
reviewed for impairment whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. When
required, impairment losses on assets to be held and used
are recognized based on the fair value of the asset. The fair
value is determined based on estimates of future cash flows,
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market value of similar assets, if available, or independent
appraisals, if required. If the carrying amount of the long-lived
asset is not recoverable from its undiscounted cash flows, an
impairment loss is recognized for the difference between the
carrying amount and fair value of the asset.

Derivatives

From time to time, the Company may use derivative
instruments to manage exposure to interest rates.
Derivatives meeting the hedge criteria established by SFAS
No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities," as amended by SFAS No. 138, are recorded in
the Consclidated Balance Sheet at fair value at each balance
sheet date. When the derivative is entered into, the Company
designates whether or not the derivative instrument is an
effective hedge of an asset, liability or firm commitment and
classifies the hedge as a cash flow hedge or a fair value hedge.
If the hedge is determined to be an effective cash flow hedge,
changes in the fair value of the derivative instrument are
recorded as a component of other comprehensive income
(loss). Changes in the value of fair value hedges are recorded
in results of operations. In July 2002, the Company entered
into an interest rate swap agreement to fix the interest rate
on its $I5 million term loan, The swap was designated as a
cash flow hedge. The Company terminated the swap in the
second quarter of 2006 in conjunction with paying off the
term loan. In February 2007, the Company entered into a
hedge agresment to fix the interest rate on a portion of the
debt via an interest rate swap/collar arrangement. The hedge
agreement does not qualify for hedge accounting treatment
under SFAS No. 133 and all changes in the fair market value
of the hedge will be reccrded in the Company's Consclidated
Statements of Operations.

Marketing and Advertising Costs

Marketing and advertising costs inciude costs incurred to
promote the Company's business. Marketing and advertising
costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense incurred
by the Company in 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $2.0 million,
$1.9 million and $0.6 million, respectively.



Investigator and Project Costs

In addition to various contract costs previously described,
the Company incurs costs, in excess of contract amounts,
which are reimbursable by its customers. Emerging lssues
Task Force {(EITF) Ol-14, “Income Statement Characterization
of Reimbursements Received for Qut-of-Pocket Expenses
Incurred.” requires the Company to include amounts paid to
investigators and other out-of-pocket costs as reimbursable
out-of-pocket revenues and reimbursable out-of-pocket
expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operaiions.
In certain contracts, these costs are fixed by the contract
terms, so the Company recognizes these costs as part of net
service revenues and direct costs.

Net Income Per Share Data

Net income per basic share is computed using the weighted
average common shares outstanding. Net income per diluted
share is computed using the weighted average common
shares and potential common shares cutstanding.

The weighted average shares used in computing net income

per diluted share have been calculated as follows:

(in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Weighted average common

shares outstanding 14,323 13,572 13,166
Stock options and non-

vested restricted shares 435 548 225
Weighted average shares 14,762 14,120 13,391

Options to purchase approximately 30,000, 240,000 and
|4 million shares of common stock were outstanding during

12006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, but were not included in

the computation of earnings per diluted share because the
effect would be aniidilutive,

Income Taxes

The Company and its L.S. subsidiaries file a consclidated
LS. federal income tax return. Other subsidiaries of the
Company file tax returns in their local jurisdictions.

The Company provides for income taxes on all transactions
that have been recognized in the Consolidated Financial
Statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109. Accordingly, the

impact of changes in income tax laws on deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities are recognized in net earnings in
the period during which such changes are enacted.

The Company records deferred tax assets and liabilities
based on temporary differences between the financial
statement and tax bases of assets and liabilites and for tax
benefit carryforwards using enacted tax rates in effect in
the year in which the differences are expected to reverse.
Management provides valuation allowances against deferred
tax assets for amounts that are not considered more likely
than not to be realized. The valuation of the deferred tax
asset is dependent on, among other things, the ability of
the Company to generate a sufficient level of future taxable
income. In estimating future taxabie income, the Company
has considered both positive and negative evidence, such
as historical and forecasted results of operations, and has
considered the implementation of prudent and feasible tax
planning strategies.

At December 31, 2006, the Company has recorded a net
deferred tax asset of $7.7 million. Further detail on the

Company's deferred tax assets and valuation allowances is

contained in footnote 12, Income Taxes.

The Company believes it has a reasonable basis in the tax
law for all of the positions it takes in the various tax returns
it files. However, in recognition of the fact'that (1) various
taxing authorities may take opposing views on some issues,
(in) the cost and risk of litigation in sustaining the positions
that the Company has taken on various returns might be
significant, and (iil} the taxing authorities may prevail in their
attempts to overturn such positions, the Company maintains
tax reserves, which are established for amounts that are
judged to be probable liabilities based on the definition
presented in SFAS No. 5. These tax reserves cover a variety
of issues and involve numerous taxing jurisdictions. When
necessary, periodic adjustments are made to reserves to
reflect the lapsing of statutes of limitations or other relevant
factual developments.
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Stock Options

Effective January ), 2006, the Company began accounting
for stock-based incentive programs under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 123(R), "Share-Based
Payment.” SFAS |23(R)', superseded Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.” SFAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments
to employees, including grants of employee stock options,
be recognized as compensation expense in the income
statement at fair vatue. The Company adopted the provisions
of SFAS 123(R) for all share-based payments granted after
January 1, 2006, and for all awards granted to employees
prior to January |, 2006, that remain unvested on January |,
2006, The Company adopted SFAS 123(R} using a modified
prospective application. Accordingly, prior period amounts
have not been restated. The Company uses the straight-
line method of recording compensation expense relative to
share-based payment.

The weighted average fair value of the options granted in
2006, 2005 and 2004 was estimated as $18.79, $9.21 and
$4.34, respectively, onthe date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
Divided yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 562% 55.6% 67.5%
Risk-free interest rate 49% 37% 37%
Expected term 59 years| 4.7 years 5.0 years

The expected volatility is based on the Company's stock price
over a historical period, which approximates the expected
term. The risk free interest rate is based on the implied yield
in U.S. Treasury issues with a remaining term approximating
the expected term. The expecied term is calculated as the
historical weighted average life of similar awards.

The adoption of SFAS [23{R) resulted in stock-based
compensation expense related to stock options of
approximately $!.5 milion in 2006. The stock-based
compensation expense caused net income in 2006 to
decrease by approximately $1.1 million and basic and diluted
earnings per share to decrease by $0.08 per share. Stock-
based compensation expense is recorded primarily in general
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and administrative expenses in the Comparry's Consolidated
Statements of Income as the majority of the stock option
expense related to options granted to executives.

As of December 31, 2006, there was $!.3 million of total
unrecognized compensation cost. $1.295 million relating to
options and $19,000 relating to restricted stock related to
non-vested share-based payment plans. The cost is expected
to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.8 years
for options and five months for restricted stock.

In addition, SFAS 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax
deductions in excess of recognized compensation expense
to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an
operating cash flow. This requirement reduced net operating
cash flows and increased net financing cash flows by
approximately $8%98,000 during 2006.

On May 12, 2005, the Compensation Committee amended
the vesting schedule for a total of approximately 140,000
options outstanding that met the following criteria:

[} Outstanding/unvested as of May 12, 2005

2) Have an option price greater than $11.73 (fair market value
on May 12, 2005)

3) Were granted between May |, 2001, and May |, 2002

All unvested shares that met the above criteria, with the
exception of options held by any executive officer of the
company, were immediately vested as of May |2, 2005. The
Compensation Committee decided to accelerate the vesting
schedule of these options primarily to enhance employee
appreciation of the importance of focusing on increasing
shareholder value and to avoid expensing the options upon
adoption of SFAS (23(R).

Priorto 2006, the Company had accounted for stock options
issued in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Option
(APB) No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.”
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Had the Company adopted SFAS No. 123, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation,” for expense recognition
purposes, the amount of compensation expense that would
have been recognized in 2005 and 2004 would have been
$4.8 million and $3.9 million, respectively. Approximately
$2.2 million of the $4.8 million in compensation expense that
would have been recognized for the year ended December
31, 2005, resulted from the amendment made to the vesting
schedute. The Company's pro forma net income (lossy and
pro forma net income (loss) per basic and diluted share for
2005 and 2004 would have been reduced to the amounts
below:

(in thousands, except per share data) 2005 2004
Pro forma net income

As reported $ 10674 |% 3572
Less: pro forma adjustment for stock-

based compensation, net of tax : (3.739%) (3015}
Pro forma net income 6,935 557

Pro forma net income per diluted share

As reported 076 027
Pro farma 049 004
Effect of pro forma expense 027 0.23)
Pro forma net income per basic share .

As reported 0.79 027
Pro forma 051 0.04
Effect of pro forma expense (0.28) (0.23)

Restricted/Unrestricted Stock

Restricted stock also may be granted pursuant to the [997
Plan. Restricted shares typically vest ratably over a three-
year period, with shares restricted from transfer until vesting.
In 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company granted 250, 0 and
(8,000 shares of resiricted stock. If a participant ceases
to be an eligible employee prior to the lapsing of transfer
restrictions, such shares return to the Company without
consideration. Unrestricted stock also may be granted io
key employees under the 1997 Plan. Unrestricted shares
vest immediately. The Company granted 10,700 shares
of unrestricted Common Stock in 2006, No shares of
unrestricted stock were granted in 2005 and 2004.

Kendle

Compensation expense related to restricted and unrestricted
stock awards was as follows:

Compensation Expense
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
Restricted stock $ 57 1% 78 | % 71
Unrestricted stock 336 — —_

Total stock-based compensation | $ 93 1% 78 1% 71

Use of Estimates

The preparztion of Consolidated Financial Statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabifities
at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during

‘the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those

estimates.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
{'SFAS No. 157"} "Fair Value Measurements” ("SFAS 157").
SFAS |57 provides a new. single authoritative definition of fair
value and provides enhanced guidance for measuring the fair
value of assets and liabilities. It requires additional disclosures
related to the extent to which companies measure assets and
liabilities at farr value, the information used to measure fair
value and the effect of fair value measurements on earnings.
SFAS 157 is effective for the Company as of January |, 2008.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. (58
“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB
Staterments No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)" (""SFAS 158"). SFAS
[58 requires balance sheet recognition of the overfunded or
underfunded status of pension and postretirement benefit
plans. Under SFAS 158, actuarial gains and losses, prior
service costs or credits, and any remaining transition assets
or obligations that have not been recognized under previous
accounting standards must be recognized as a component
of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within
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stockholders' equity, net of tax effects, until they are
amortized as a component of net pericdic benefit cost. In
addition, the measurement date and the date at which plan
assets and the benefit obligation are measured are required
to be the company's fiscal year end. SFAS 158 is effective as
of the end of the fiscal year ending after December 31, 2006.
The adoption of SFAS 158 did not have an impact on the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 108 ("SAB 108™), "Considering the Effects of Prior Year
Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current
Year Financial Statements.” SAB 108 is effective for fiscal
years ending cn or after November |5, 2006, and addresses
consideration and treatment of material financial statement
errorsthatshould be considered fromamateriality perspective
and corrected. The literature provides interpretive guidance
on how the effects of the carryover or reversal of pricr year
misstatements should be considered in quantifying a current
year misstatement. The adoption of the provisions of SAB
108 did not have an impact on the Company's consolidated
financial statements.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASE Interpretation ("FIN™)
No. 48 “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an
interpretation of FASB Staterment 1097 FIN 48 establishes
a single model to address accounting for uncertainty in tax
nositions. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for income taxes by
prescribing a minimum recognition threshold a tax position
is required to meet before being recognized in the financial
statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on de-recognition,
measurement, classification, interest and penalties, accounting
in interim periods, disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 5, 2006. Kendle
will adopt FIN 48 as of January |, 2007, as required. The
Company continues tc evaluate the impact of the adoption
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of FIN 48. The cumulative impact of applying the provisions
of FIN 48 will be reported as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 123(R), "Share-Based Payment” (SFAS [23(R)).
SFAS 123(R) requires that compensation costs related to
share-based payment transactions be recognized in the
financial statements. The cost will be measured based on
the fair value of the equity or lability instruments issued.
SFAS 123(R) covers a range of share-based compensation
arrangements, including share options, restricted stock
plans, performance-based awards, share appreciation rights
and employee stock purchase plans. SFAS 123(R) replaces
SFAS 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and
supersedes APB Cpinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stack Issued
to Employeses.” In April 2005, the Securities and Exchange
Commission anncunced the adoption of a new rule that
amends the effective date of SFAS 123(R). The effective date
of the new standard under these new rules for the Company's
Consolidated Financial Statements was January |, 2006, The
Company adopted SFAS [23(R) on |anuary [, 2006, using
the modified prospective method in which compensation
expense is recognized based on the requirement of SFAS
123(R) for all share-based payments granted after January
I, 2006, and based on the requirements of SFAS 123 for all
awards granted to employees prior to January |, 2006. In
the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, the Company
recorded approximately $1.5 million related to the expensing ,
of options under SFAS 123,

2. Available-For-Sale-Securities

The fair value of available-for-sale securities is estimated based
on quoted market prices. The Company views its available-
for-sale portfolio as available for use in current operations.




Accordingly, the Company has classified all investments as
short term, even though the stated maturity date may be one
year or more beyond the current balance sheet date. The
Company had no available-for-sale securities at December
31. 2006, compared to $10.7 million at December 3!, 2005,
The Company sold its existing available-for-sale securities in
August 2006 to help finance the purchase of CRL Clinical
Services. The following 15 a summary as of December 31,
2005, of available-for-sale securities by contractual maturity
where applicable (in thousands):

Available-for-Sale Amortized | Unrealized Fair
Securities: Cost | Gain (Loss) Value
Corporate-backed securities:
Maturing in |
year or less % 8667 | % N |s 8.640
Maturing after | year .
through 5 years 8i8 (12) 806
Maturing after 10 years — — —
Government-backed
securities:
Maturing in | year or less — — —
Maturing after | year
through 5 years 530 — 530
Maturing after 10 years 750 — 750
12/31/05 Totals $ 10765 | $ (39) |$ 10726

Proceeds from the sales or maturities of investments in
securities were $17.9 million, $9.1 million and $7.9 millicn in
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Gross losses realized on
the sale of available-for-sale securities were approximately
$34.000 during 2006. There were no gross losses realized
on these sales for the years ended December 31, 2005, and
2004.

3. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
. The carrying amounts of the Company's financial instruments,

including cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale
securities, amounts outstanding under credit facility, and
notes payable approximate their fair value.

4, Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are billed when certain milestones
defined in customer contracts are achieved. All unbilled
accounts receivable are expected to be collected within one
year,

(in thousands),

December 31, 2006 ) 2005
Billed $ 64,125 | % 40,388
Unbilled 58,555 24,724

$ 122680 | % 65,112

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable based on historical evidence of accounts
receivable ccllections and specific identification of accounts
receivable that might cause collection problems. The balance
in allowance for doubtful accounts receivable was as follows:

{in thousands)

Balance ac 12/31/03 3 533
Inveice write-offs {436)
Additional expense 149
Balance at 12/31/04 3 246
Invoice write-offs (50)
Additional expense 1,901
Balance at 12/31/05 $ 2,057
Invoice write-offs (1,754)
Additional expense 25C
Balance at 12/31/06 $ 553
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in the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company recorded a
bad debt reserve of approximately $1.7 million associated
with one study being conducted in the United Kingdom.
In the third quarter of 2006, the receivable was deemed
uncollectible and was written-off,

5. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is summarized as follows:

(in thousands),

December 31, 2006 2005
Furnishings, equipment and other % 63290 | % 48,186
Equipment under c.apital leases 2168 2723
Less: accumulated depreciation

and amortization (42,434) (35.825)
Property and equipment, net 1% 23,024 | $ }5.084

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004 was $6.0 million, $5.1 million and $5.3
million, respectively. ‘

6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In accordance with “SFAS No.142, “Goodwill and Other
intangible Assets,” effective January 1, 2002, the Company
discontinued the amortization of goodwill and other
identifiable intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives.
Intangible assets that have finite useful lives will continue to
be amortized over their useful lives.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill is evaluated on
an annual basis for impairment at the reporting unit level.
Such evaluation is based on a two-step test starting with &
comparison of the carrying amount of the reporting unit to
the fair value of the reporting unit. If the carrying amount of
the reporting unit exceeds the fair value, the second phase of
the test measures the impairment.

In 2006, the Company has tested goodwill based on its two
reporting units, Early Stage and Late Stage. The Company
analyzed goodwill for impairment by comparing the carrying
amountsofthe reportingunitsto the fairvaluesofthe reporting
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units. The fair values of the reporting units were calculated
based on the Income Approach which uses discounted cash
fiows as well as public information regarding the market
capitalizaticn of the Company. Prior to 2006, the Company
had been managed in one reportable unit as discussed in
Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company completed the testing in the fourth quarter
of 2006. The fair value of the reparting units exceeded the
carrying value, resulting in no goodwill impairment for 2006,
Similarly, the analysis in the fourth quarter of 2005 resulted
in no goodwill impairment.

Non-amortizable intangible assets at December 31, 2006,
and December 31, 2005, are comprised of:

(in thousands} Goodwill
Balance at 12/31/04 $ 26,003
Additional amount acquired —
Foreign currency fluctuations (1.53%)
Tax benefit to reduce goodwill (389
Batance at 12/31/05 $ 24,075
Additicnal amount acquired 204,735
Fareign currency fluctuations {140
Tax bepefit to reduce goodwill (352)
Balance at 12/31/06 $ 229,598

The Company has an intangble asset representing one
customer relationship acquired in the Corﬁpany's acquisition
of CPR. The value of this customer relationship had been
$!5 million prior to the fourth quarter of 2006 and the
useful life had been designated as indefinite. Due to declining
revenue from this customer in 2006 and the declining
revenue projected for 2007 and future years, the Company
determined that the asset was impaired and recorded an
$8.2 million impairment charge in 2006. Effective January |,
2007, the Company has assigned a 23-year useful life to the
custorner relationship due to changes in a number of the
conditions around the relationship, including the Company's
decision to market its services to additional customers in
the future.



In April 2006, the Company acquired approximately
$300,000 of goodwill as a result of its acquisition of
International Clinical Research Limited ("IC-Research"”) and
related companies. Approximately $100,000 of the goodwill
and the full amount of the intangible asset acquired in the
acquisition are deductible for income tax purposes over a
|5-year period.

The Company acquired approximately $2044 million of
goodwill in August 2006 resulting from the acquisition of
the Phase [I-IV Clinical Services business of Charles River
Laboratories International, Inc (“"CRL Clinical Services'). The
goodwill and the intangible asset acquired in the acquisition
are not deductible for income tax purposes.

Goodwill and other intangible assets consisted of the
following:

(in thousands),
December 31, 2006 (a) 2005

Goadwill $ 2295983 24075
Amortizable intangible assets:
Carrying amount:
Customer relationships 18000 15,400
Non-compete agreements 460 460
Completed technology 2500 —
Backlog 6,200 —
Internally developed software (b) 16039 16,228
Total carrying amount $ 43299 |% 32088
Accumulated Amortization:
Customer relationships - (682) {50
Non-compete agreements . (374) (259}
Completed technology (205) —
Backlog (1.772) —
Internally developed software (14,228) (413,089)

Total accumulated amortization $ (17.2640)1% (13438)
Net amoertizable assets 26,038 18.650

Total goodwill and intangible assets 3 2556363 42725

(2) As disclosed in the paragraphs preceding this table.a $1 5 miliion customer relationship
intangible was determined to be impaired in 2006.The Company recorded an $8.2 million
impairment charge and changed the asset’s designation from indefinite tc finite-lved.

(b) Internally developed sofiware is contained in Other Assets in the Company's
Consclidated Balance Sheets.

Amortizable intangible assets at December 31, 2006, and
December 31, 2005, are composed of.
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Balance at 12/31/04 | $15346 (% 317[($ —([$ —]|$ 5097
Additional
amounts
acquired — — — — 233
Dispositions — — — — (68}
2005 amortization 37 (115) — — | {2123}
Balance at 12/31/05 | $15309|% 202|¢ —(% —|% 3.139
Additional
amounts .
acquired 10,800 — 2,600 6,200 30
Intangible
impairment
charge {8.200) — — — —
Dispositions — — — — {50)
2005 amortization (592) (115) (205) | (17723 (1.368)
Balance ac 12/31/06 | $17317|%  B87|$ 2395]% 4428[% 181l

(a) As disclosed in the paragraphs preceding this table, a $15 million custormer relationship
intangible was determined to be impaired in 2006. The Company recorded an
$6€.2 million impairment charge and changed the asset's designation from indefinite to
finite-lived.

Amertization expense in 2004 on intangible assets was $3.1.
million. approximately $2.9 million of which was related to
amortization of internally developed software,

The weighted-average useful life of the Company's Customer
Relationship intangible assets is approximately 15 years.

The weighted-average useiul life of the Company's Non-

Compete Agreements intangble asset i1s approximately
4 years.
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Completed technology represents proprietary technology
acquired in the Company's August 2006 acquisition of CRL
Clinical Services. Value was assigned to the completed
technology based on the technology directly related to
revenue generation or profit enhancement. The value was
calculated using an income approach, which assumes that the
value of the technology is equivalent to the present value of
the future stream of economic benefits that can be derived
from its ownership. A useful life of five years for the intangible
asset was determined by estimating the remaining useful life
of the technology acquired.

Backlog represents backlog acquired in the Company's August
2006 acquisition of CRL Clinical Services. Value was assigned
to backlog by evaluating the expected future economic
operating income generaied by the backlog. The useful life
of the backlog of approximately 7 years was determined by
evaluating the remaining life of the contracts that compose
the backlog acquired,

Internally-developed software is included in other assets
within the consolidated financial statements. The Company
typically amortizes internally-developed software over a
5 year useful iife.

Amortization expense for the next five years relating to these
amortizable intangible assets is estimated to be as follows:

7. Other Accrued Liabilities
Other accrued liabilities at December 31, 2006, and 2005,
consisted of the following:

(in thousands)

2007 $5.626
2008 $4.091(
2009 $3.123
2010 $2.431
2011 $2.261
Thereafter $8,504

For further detail regarding the amortizable assets accuired
in 2006, see Note |13, Acguisitions.
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(in thousands},

December 31, 2006 2005
Accrued compensaticn and related )
"payroll withtioldings and taxes % 13177 | % 7447
Arncunts payable - book overdraft 34 29
Other 17,289 7899

% 30,500 | $ 15,435

8. Debt

In August 2006, in conjunction with its acquisition of CRL
Clinical Services, the Company eniered into a new credit
agreement (the "Facility™).

The Facility is comprised of a $200 miillion term loan that
matures in August 2012 and a $25 million revolving credit
loan that expires in August 201 1. The Company has the right
to request an increase of up to $15,0 millian in the revolving
loan amount. The Facility is guaranteed by certain of the
Company's subsidiaries.

The term loan has mandatory principal payments of $500,000
per quarter beginning with the fourth quarter of 2006. In
addition, at the end of each fiscal year commencing with the
fiscal year ending December 3t, 2007, the Company must
prepay 50% of its excess cash flow for the year (as defined
in the Facility).

Interest on the term loan is variable based on a LIBOR rate
plus an applicable margin. The applicable margin is currently
at 2.75% and will vary based on the leverage ratio {as defined
in the agreement) of the Company. The interest rate in
effect on the term loan for the fourth quarter of 2006 was
approximately 8.10%. Within 210 days of the closing of the
credit agreement (by March 16, 2007), the Company must



enter into a hedge agreement to fix the interest rate on at
least 40% of the outstanding amount of the term loan for a
minimum of three years. The original agreement mandated
that the Company obtain interest rate protection in 120
days, but this date was amended to 210 days. In February
2007, the Company entered into a hedge agreement to fix
the interest rate on a portion of the debt via an interest
rate swap/collar arrangement. The hedge agreement does
not qualify for hedge accounting treatment under SFAS No.
133, and all changes in the fair market value of the hedge
will be recorded in the Company's Consolidated Statements
of Operations. -

Interest on the revolving loan is also based on a LIBOR rate
plus an applicable margin.

The Facility contains varicus affirmative and negative
covenants, including financial covenants regarding maximum
leverage ratio, minimum interest coverage ratio and limitations
on capital expenditures. The Company is in compliance
with the financial covenants contained in the Facility as of
December 31, 2006.

The Company incurred debt issuance costs of approximately
$5.6 million related tothe Facility. Debt issuance costs are
presented as a component of Other Assets in the Company's
Consolidated Balance Sheet and are amortized over the life
of the term loan or revolving credit loan.

The Company also maintains an existing $5.0 million
Multicurrency Facility that is renewable annually and is used
in connection with the Company's European operations.

At December 31, 2006, no amounts were outstanding
under the Company's revolving credit loan, $199.5 million
was outstanding under the term loan and no amounts were
outstanding under the $5.0 million Multicurrency Facility.

With the acquisition of CPR in 2002, the Company entered
into a%6.0million convertible note payable to the shareholders
of CPR. The principal balance was convertible at the holders’
option into 314,243 shares of the Company's Common Stock
at any time through January 29, 2005 (the Maturity Date). If
the note had not been converted at the Maturity Date, the
Company had the option to extend the Maturity Date of
the note for another three years. The note bore interest at
an annual rate of 3.80% from January 29, 2002, through the
Maturity Date. Interest was payable semi-annually.

In june 2003, the Company and the sharehelders of CPR
entered into Note Prepayment Agreements. Under the Note
Prepayment Agreements, the Company agreed to satisfy its
payment obligations under the $6.0 million convertible note
by making a series of four payments between june 30, 2003,
and January 10, 2005. The four payments were initiated either
by the Company through the exercise of a "call” option or
by the CPR shareholders through the exercise of a “put”
option. Gains resulting from this early extinguishment of debt
were recorded in the Company's Consolidated Statements
of Operations when payments were made by the Company.
In the first quarter of 2005, the Company paid approximately
$1.2 million to settle the remaining $1.5 million of the
convertible note that was outstanding at December 31, 2004.
A gain of $300,000 was recorded in the first quarter of 2005
in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Cperations.
No amounts rernain outstanding under this convertible note
at December 31, 2005 or 2006. The total gains resulting from
early extinguishment of debt since inception of the Note
Prepayment Agreement were approximately $1.5 million.

In conjunction with the lease of a new facility in Durham,
North Carofina, in December 2006 the Company entered
into a standby Letter of Credit for $565,000 that expires in
September of 2007 and will be renewable annually over the
life of the lease. The Company is currently paying interest at
a rate of 3.00% on the letter of credit. The interest rate will
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vary based on the Company’s leverage ratio as defined in the
Facility agreement. '
9. Employee Severance and Office
Consolidation Costs

In the first quarter of 2004, in order to align its resources to
meet customer need and demand projections, the Company
implemented a workforce realignment plan that resulted in
a pre-tax charge of approximately $254,000 for severance
and outplacement benefits. An additional $48.000 in net
costs (composed of approximately $80,000 in additional
costs offset by a reduction to the liability of approximately
$32,000) was incurred in the second quarter of 2004
related to this plan. The workforce realignment plan affected
approximately 3 percent of the Company's North American
workforce. Payments in 2004 totaled $302,000 and no
_amounts remained accrued at December 31, 2004,

In 2005, the Company recorded an additional $70,000 in costs
related to on-going arbitration proceedings for an individual
whose position was eliminated as a result of a realignment
plan announced in August 2003. Payments in 2005 totaled
$85,000 and no amounts remained accrued at December 31,
2005. Costs related to this program are reflected in the line
item titled "Severance and Office Consolidation Costs™ in
the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Employee
{in thousands) Severance Other Total
Liability at December 31,2004 | % 15 —1% 15
Amounts atcrued * 70 — 70
Amounts paid (85) — (83)

Non-cash charge — —_ —
Adjustment to lability — — —
Liability at December 31,2005 | $ —|% —1% —
Amounis accrued — — -

Amounts paid - — —
Non-cash charge — — —
Adjustrnent to liability — — —
Liability at December 31, 2006 | % —1i3 —I|3 —
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10. Employee Benefit Plans

401(k) Plan

The Company maintains a 40I(k) retirement plan covering
substantially all U.S. associates who have completed at least
six months of service and meet minimum age requirements.
The Company makes a matching contribution of 50% of each
participant's contribution of up to 6% of salary. The Company's
matching contributions to this plan totaled approximately
$1,375,000, $1,005,000 and $1,042.000 for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company maintains an Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(the Purchase Ptan) that is intended to provide eligible
employees an opportunity to acquire the Company's
Common Stock. Participating employees have the option to
purchase shares at 85% of the lower of the fair market value
of the Common Stock on the first or last day of the Purchase
Period. The Purchase Period is defined as the twelve-month
period beginning on July | of each year. The Purchase Plan
is intended to qualify as an "employee stock purchase plan”
under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended. The Board of Directors has reserved 500,000
shares of Common Stock for issuance under the Purchase Plan.
During 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, 28,226, 111.000
and 103,693 shares were purchased under the Purchase Plan.
As of Decernber 2005, the Plan was discontinued.

Stock Option and Stock Incentive Plan

In 1997, the Company established the 1997 Stock Opticn
and Stock Incentive Plan (including amendments, the 1997
Plan) that provides for the issuance of up to 1,000,000
shares of the Company's Commen Stock, including both
incentive and non-qualified stock options, restricted and
unrestricted shares and stock appreciation rights. In April
2000, shareholders approved an amendment to the 1997
Plan increasing the number of shares that can be issued to
3,000,000. Participation in the 1997 Plan is at the discretion
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of the Board of Directors’ Management Development
and Compensation Committee. Prior to August 2002, the
1997 Plan was administered by the Board of Director’s
Compensation Subcommittee. The exercise price of
incentive stock options granted under the 1997 Plan must be
no less than the fair market value of the Common Stock, as
determined under the 1997 Plan provisions, at the date the
option is granted (110% of fair market value for shareholders
owning more than 0% of the Company's Common Stock).
The exercise price of non-qualified stock options must be no
less than 95% of the fair market value of the Commen Stock
at the date the option is granted. The vesting provisions of
the options granted under the 1957 Plan are determined
at the discretion of the Management Development and
Compensation Commiitee, The options generally expire
either 90 days after termination of employment or; if earlier,
ten years after date of grant. No options under this 1997 plan
can be granted after August 2007, A total of 46,000 stock
options were granted during 2006.

" Restricted stock also may be granted pursuant to the 1997

Plan. Restricted shares typically vest ratably over athree-year
period, with shares restricted from transfer until vesting. In
2006, the Company granted 250 shares of restricted stock.
If a participant ceases to be an eligible employee prior to
the fapsing of transfer restrictions, such shares return to
the Company without consideration. Unrestricted stock
may also be granted to key employees under the 1997
Plan. Unrestricted shares vest immediately. The Company
granted 10,700 shares of Common Stock in the first quarter
of 2006. No additional shares of unrestricted stock were
granted in 2006.

The Company has reserved 3,000,000 shares of Common
Stock for the 1997 Plan, of which 1,216,975 are available for

" grant at December 31, 2006.

The 1997 Plan replaced a similar plan under which 556
options were outstanding at December 31, 2006.

Kendle

Aggregate stock option activity during 2006, 2005 and 2004
was as iollows:
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Options
cutsanding
at 12/31/03 206163618 1126
Granted 289,000 6.80
Canceled (313.070) 1339
Exercised (60.526) 171
Options
outstanding
at 12/31/04 | | 1,977,040 10.54
Granted 51,500 11.80
Canceled (197.583) 10.57
Exercised (715628} 10,52
Options
outstanding
at 12/31/05 1.115329 10.60
Granted 46,000 3266
Canceled {77.649) 889
Exercised (286,083) 1232
Options
outstanding
at 12/31/06 797,597 1% 1155 601% 9215
Exercisable
at t2/31/06 533,177 | $ 1299 56[% 6925

The intrinsic value of options exercised was approximately
$5.7 millien in 2006, $8.) million in 2005 and $422,000 in
2004,

At December 31, 2005, the aggregate intrinsic value of
options outstanding was $/1.9 million and the aggregate
intrinsic value of options exercisable was $8.5 million. Intrinsic
value for stock options is calculated based on the difference
between the exercise price of the underlying awards and the
quoted price of the Company’s Common Stock as of the
reporting date. '
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Options Outstanding

Weighted
Qutstanding Average | Weighted
at| Remaining| Average
December 31, [ Contractual Exercise
Range of Exercise Price 2006 Life Price
$0.91 - $3.39 556 0.041% 2,01
$340 - 36.77 165,690 6.59 551
%$6.78 - 510,16 349.595 620 8.23
$10.17 - $13.55 85,200 6.32 11.52
$13.56 - $16.94 17.760 077 [4.43
$16.95 - $20.32 56816 459 1876
$20.33 - $23.71 73880 3.85 21.20
$23.72-327.10 2,100 1.38 2548
$27.11 - $30.48 14,000 398 30.06
$30.49 - $33.87 32,000 %36 3380
797,597 6021% 1155

Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Price Exercisable at V\:‘E?:::
December 31, 2006 Exercise Price
3091 -%3.39 55| % 2.0l
$3.40-%6.77 71,670 540
$6.78-310.16 208,795 838
%10.17 - $13.55 71,600 I1.58
$13.56 - $16,94 17760 1443
$16.95 - $20.32 56816 1876
$20.33 - $23.71 73,880 21.20
$23.72- 32710 2,100 2548
$27.11 - 33048 — —
$3049 - $33.87 30,000 3387
533177 | % 12.99

At December 31, 2005, 652,570 options were exercisable
with a weighted-average exercise price of $12.95. At
December 31, 2004, 1,071,338 options were exercisable with
a weighted-average exercise price of $11.36.

The Company has granted awards of restricted shares to
certain executives pursuant to the 1997 Plan. Such shares
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generally vest ratably over a three-year period, with shares
restricted from transfer until vesting. If a participant ceases
to be an eligible employee prior to the lapsing of transfer
restrictions, such shares return to the Company without
consideration.

A summary of restricted stock activity is as follows:

Restricted Stock

Shares

Qursanding at 12/31/03 10,667
Granted 18,000
Vested (5334}
Canceled —
Outstanding at 12/31/04 23333
Granted —
Vested (H1,333)
Canceled —
Outstanding at 12/31/05 12,000
Granted 250
Vested (6,000)
Canceled —
Qutstanding at 12/31/06 6,250

The weighted-average per share fair value of restricted
shares vested was $7.00 in 2004, $7.69 in 2005 and $8.30 in
2006. The weighted-average per share fair value of restricted
shares granted was $8.30 in 2004 and $24.47 in 2006,

Il. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases facilities, office equipment and
computers under agreements that are classified as either
capital or operating leases. The leases have initial terms that
range from two to seven years, with eight facility leases that
have provisions to extend the leases for an additional three
to five years. Future minimum payments, by year and in the
aggregate, under non-cancelable capital and operating leases
with initial or remaining terms of one year or more, are as
follows at December 31, 2006:




Capital | Operating
(in thousands) Leases Leases
2007 $ 2191% 14,370
2008 208 12,640
2009 142 9629
2010 45 7534
2001 35 4815
thereafter — 13,959
Total minimum lease payments $ 649 |5 59947
‘Amounts representing interest {50)
Present value of net minimum lease payments 599
Current portion 195
Obligations under capital leases,
less current portion $ 404

Rental expense under operating leases for 2006, 2005
and 2004 was $10.1 million, $7.6 millien and $7.0, million,
respectively.

Protective Compensation and

Benefit Agreements

The Company has entered into Protective Compensation
and Benefit Agreements with certain associates, including
alt Executive Officers of the Company. These Agreements,
subject to annual review by the Company’s Board of Directors,
expire on the last day of the fiscal year, and are automatically
extended in one-year increments unless canceled by the
Company. These Agreements provide for specified benefits
in the event of a change in control, as defined in the
Agreements. At December 31, 2006, the maximum amount
which could be required to be paid under these Agreements,
if such events occur, is approximately $8.5 million.

Legal Proceedings

In the normal course of business, the Company is a party to
various claims and legal proceedings. The Company records
a reserve for these matters when an adverse outcome is
probable and the amount of the potential liability is reasonably
estimable. Although the ultimate outcome of these matters
is currently not determinable, management of the Company,

after consultation with legal counsel, does not believe that
the resolution of these matters will have a material effect
upon the Company's financial condition, results of operations
or cash flows for an interim or annual period.

Anti-takeover Provisions

The Company has adopted a shareholder rights plan that
may have anti-takeover effects which will make an acquisition
of the Company by another company more difficult. The
Company’s shareholder rights plan provides that, in the event
any person or entity acquires 15% or more of the Company's
outstanding Commen Stock, shareholders of the Company
will be entitled to purchase shares of Common Stock, or in
certain instances shares of the acquirer, at a discounted price.
The rights are intended to discourage a significant share
acquisition, merger or tender offer involving the Company's
Common Stock by increasing the cost of effecting any such
transaction and, accordingly, could have an adverse impact
on a takeover attempt that a shareholder might consider to
be in its best interests.

12. Income Taxes '
The provision for income taxes for the years ended December
31, 2066, 2005 and 2004, is as follows:

(in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Current:
Federal $ 2131|% 11495 (708)
State and local 314 (20 (63%)
Foreign 6,042 4,207 2925
Subtotal 8457 5336 1,578
Deferred:
Federal (4.252) (93) 395
State and local {336) 2081 (114)
Foreign 621 {570} 233
Subtotal a9en| 1416 514
Benefit applied to reduce goodwill 353 389 389
Total provision $ 484313 7,141 [ § 248]
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The sources of income (loss) before income taxes are
presented as follows:

(in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
United States $ (7062)|$ 6055(% (529
Foreign 20435 11,760 6,582

Income before income taxes $ 13373|% (7815|% 6053

The Company's consolidated effective income tax rate
differed from the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of
35% as set forth below:

2006 2005 2004

Income tax expense at the

A provision has not been made for U.S. or additional foreign
taxes on the undistributed portion of earnings of foreign
subsidiaries as those earnings have been permanently
reinvested. The undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries
approximate $18.5 million. Although the Company considers
earnings of its foreign subsidiaries to be permanently
reinvested, in 2006 earnings of $23.0 million net of taxes paid
to the foreign jurisdiction were distributed in connection
with a tax restructuring plan.

Compenents of the Company's net deferred tax asset

and liability included in the consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2006, and 2005 are as follows:
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U.S. federal statutory rate 350% 1 35.0%1 35.0%
Effects of foreign taxes, net of

foreign tax credits and deductions (6.5) 22 139
State and local income taxes,

net of federal benefit -0l 78 (7.6)
Dutch operating loss carryforward-

reversal of valuation allowance —_ (4.6) —
Effects of repatriated foreign dividend 69 — —|.
Other 07 @3 0.3)
Total 362% | 40.0% ] 41.0%

(In thousands) 2006 2005
Deferred tax assets:

Compensation and employee benefits $ 163413 294
Accrued expenses and other

future deductible items 4,667 920
Foreign oberating loss carryforward 14,050 3819
State and local operating loss carryforward 1055 781
Federal operating loss carryforward — 639
Tax benefit of unrealized losses — 23
Contributions carryforward — 96
Capital loss carryforward 716 728
Foreign tax credit carryforward 2402 47
Intangible assets — 3,697
Unrealized fo-reign exchange losses 650 68
Depreciation and software costs 1,233 —
Stock option expense 357 —
Accounting method differences 925 317
Total deferred tax assets 27.689 11,429
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation and software costs — 1312
Intangible assets 1,800 —
Deferred state'income taxes (01 191
Total deferred tax liability 1,901 1,503
Valuation allowance 18.118 4,548

Total net deferred tax {asset)/liability $ (7.670) | % (5378)

The current deferred tax assets of approximately
$5.2 million at December 31, 2006 and $3.6 million at
December 31, 2005 are reflected in Other Current Assets
in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet. The current
deferred tax liabilities of approximately $760,000 at
December 31, 2006 and $484,000 at December 31, 2005
are reflected in Other Accrued Liabilities in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet.



The deferred tax asset for state and local 6perating loss
carryforward of $1,055,000 refates to amounts that expire at
various times from 2007 to 2027. The amount that will expire
in 2007 is $2,000. A valuation allowance has been established
for $233,000 of this tax asset based upon an assessment that
it 1s more likely than not that realization cannot be assured in
certain tax jurisdictions. -

The Company has foreign operating loss carryforwards of
$1.6 million with a recognized tax benefit of $417,000. Of
this benefit, $13,000 will expire in 2011 and $404.000 can be
carried forward indefinitely.

The Company has foreign operating loss carryforwards of
$45.7 million with a tax benefit of $13.6 million for which
a valuation allowance has been established based upon an
assessment that it is more likely than not that realization
cannot be assured. The ultimate realization of this tax benefit

is dependent upon the generation of sufficient operating -

income in the respective tax jurisdictions. Of this benefit,
$600,000 will expire at various times from 2008 1o 2017 and
$13.0 million can be carried ferward indefinitely.

The Company has capital loss carryforwards of $2.0 miltion
with a tax benefit of $716,000 for which a valuation allowance
has been established based upon an assessment that itis more
likely than not that realization cannot be assured. Of this tax
benefit, $3.000 will expire in 2007, $708,000 will expire in
2008 and $5,000 will expire in 2010. The ultimate realization
of this tax benefit is dependent upon the generation of
sufficient capital gains within the carryforward periods,

The Company has foreign tax credit carryforwards with a
tax benefit of $43,000 for which a valuation allowance has
been established based upon an assessment that it is more
likely than not that realization cannot be assured. This benefit
can be carned forward indefinitely.

Avaluation allowance has been established for other deferred
tax assets of $3.5 million related to operations in foreign tax
jurisdictions based upon an assessment that it is more likely
than not that realization cannot be assured.

Yearly activity related to the Company’s valuation allowance

is as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Beginning balance $ 4548|% 70i4{% 5865
Additions charged to expense 1,357 3%9 1,561
Additions attributable to acquisitions- 12739, —_ —
Reductions from utilization
and reassessments (526) | (2.865) {(442)
Ending balance $18118|% 4548 1% 7014

Income tax benefits related to stock option exercises and the
employee stock purchase plan were $1.2 million, $2.0 million
and $208,000 for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and
have been shown as increases to additional paid-in capital.

The income tax costs (benefits} related to unrealized gains
and losses in other comprehensive income components of
shareholders’ equity were $0 in 2006, $(23,000} in 2005 and
$(34,000) in 2004.

13. Acquisitions

Cetails pertaining to Company's acquisitions in 2006 are
listed below. The acquisitions have been accounted for using
the purchase method of accounting.

2006
Acquisition of International Clinical Research Limited and
related companies
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In April 2006, the Company completed its acquisition of Latin
America CRO international Clinical Research Limited (IC-
Research) and its related companies. IC-Research is a leading
CRO in Latin America with operations in Argentina, Brazil,
Chile and Colombia. The acquisition supports the Company's
goal of strategic business expansion and diversification in
high-growth regions to deliver global clinical trials for its
customers. |C-Research is part of the Company's Late Stage
segment.

The acquisition closed in April 2006. The aggregate purchase
price. was approximately $951,000 in cash, including
acquisition costs. In addition, there is an earnout provision,
with a maximum additional amount to be paid of $260,000
as well as an additional contingent payment of $100,000.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values
of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition. A third party was used to assist the Company in
valuing the intangible asset. The allecation of the purchase
price is preliminary and subject to finalization of asset
and liahility amounts, including the contingent payments
referenced above.

Purchase Price Allocation

(in thousands)
Current assets 3 170
Property, plant and equiprment 9
Customer relationship intangible asset 500
Goodwill 322
Total assets acquired 1,001
Current liabilities (50
Net assets acquired . $ 951
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Acquisition of Phase -1V Clinical Services Business of Chartes
River Laboratories International, Inc.:

In August 2006, the Company completed its acquisition of
[00% of the capital stock of Inveresk Research Inc., aDelaware
corporation (“Inveresk’); Charles River Laboratories Clinical
Services GmbH, a German limited liability company ("CRL
Germany™); and Charles River Laboratories Clinical Services
SRO ("CRL Czech Republic™), (Inveresk, CRL Germany
and CRL Crzech Republic, together with their respective
subsidiaries, “CRL Clinical Services”), The acquisition
supports the Company's goal of strategic business expansion
and diversification in high-growth regicns to deliver global
clinical trials for its custemers. CRL Clinical Services is part of
the Company's Late Stage segment.

The acquisition closed in August 2006. The Company
purchased CRL Clinical Services for $215.0 million in cash
plus a preliminary working capital adjustment of $14.7 million
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Stock
Purchase Agreement, as amended. In addition, the Company
incurred $6.2 million in acquisiticn costs. The acquisition was
financed with $200 million in debt and $35.9 million (inclusive
of acquisition costs} of the Company's existing cash and
proceeds from available-for-sale securities. The Company
capitalized $5.6 million of costs related to the debt issuance,

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values
of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition. A third party was used to assist the Company in
valuing the intangible asset. The allocation of the purchase
price is preliminary and subject to finalization of asset and
fiability amounts, primarily related to the resolution of accrual
estimates that were part of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed by the Company.




Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation

(in thousands)
Accounts receivable $ 2322
Other current assets . 16,463
Property, plant and equipment 4,784
Other long-term assets 2,851
Customer relationship intangible asset 10300
Completed technology intangible asset 2,600
Backlog intangible asset 6,200
Goodwill 204413
Total assets acquired 270832
Advanced billings (10.264)
Other current liabilities (11,737
Gther long-term liabilities (12.920)
Total liabilities assumed (34921
Net assets acquired % 235911

For the acquisitions discussed above, results of operations
are included in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Operations from the date of acquisition.

The following unaudited pro forma results of operations
assume the acquisitions of International Clinical Research
Limited and CRL Clinical Services occurred at the beginning
of 2006 and 2005:

(in thousands, except per share data) 2006 2005
Net service revenues $ 350781 |% 313926
Net income 2,158 8.246
Net income per diluted share $ Q151% 058
Weighted average shares 14762 14,120

The pro forma adjustments represent management's best
estimates based on information available at the time the
pro forma information was prepared and may differ from
the adjustments that may actually.have been required.
Accordingly, the pro forma financial information should not
be relied upon as being indicative of the historical results that
would have been realized had the acquisition occurred as of
the dates indicated or that may be achieved in the future.

14. Investments

The Company has a 50%-owned joint venture investment in
Beijing KendleWits Medical Consulting Co., Ltd. (KendleWits),
a company located in China. This investment is accounted
for under the equity method. To date, the Company has
contributed approximately $750,000 for the capitalization of
KendleWits. In the second quarter of 2003, the Company
determined that its investment in KendleWits was
permanently impaired and as a result recorded a $405,000
non-cash charge to reduce the carrying value of its investment
to zero. Future capital investment needs will be dependent
upon the on-going capitalization needs of KendleWits and
the Company's willingness to provide additional capital. The
Company is not obligated tc make any additional investment
in KendleWits and currently bas no plans to do so.

15. Related Party Transactions

" The Company made payments in 2006 totaling approximately

$25,000 to a construction company owned by & relative of
the Company's primary shareholder, for construction and
renavations at various Company locations. No such payments
were made in 2004 or 2005.

The Company made payments in 2006 totaling approxirmately
34,000 10 a law firm owned by the son of the Company's
primary shareholder, for professional services. No such
payments were made in 2004 or 2005.

16. Segment Information

In the first quarter of 2006, the Company recrganized its
business into two reportable segments, Early Stage and Late
Stage. The reorganization was made to move the Company's
two Early stage units under a single leadership tearn and the
segment reporting reflects the way in which management
and the Company's chief operating decision maker reviews
the results of the business. The Early Stage business currently
focuses.on the Company's Phase | operations, while Late
Stage is comprised of contract services related to Phase I
through IV clinical trials, regulatory affairs and biometrics
offerings. Support and Other consists of unallocated
corporate expenses, primarily information technology,
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marketing and communications, human resources, finance
and legal. Previously the Company had been managed
in one reportable segment. The changes represent only
reclassifications between segments and do not change the
Company's consolidated net service revenues, operating
income, identifiable assets, capital expenditures and
depreciation expense as reported in previous quarierly and
annual filings. All operating segment information from prior
periods presented in this document has been- restated to
reflect the segment reclassification.

Early Late Support

(in thousands) Stage Stage & Other Total

Twelve months ended
December 31, 2006

Net service revenues | $ 23328 | $ 254954 | $ 5189 | % 283471

Reimbursable out-

of-pocket revenues —|% 90465 — |3 90465
Total revenues $ 233285 345419 % 5189 $ 373,935
Operating ]

Income (loss) $ (2476} | % 658463 (43.380) | 20010
Total assets 5§ 31,992 | $ 370527 | $52.553 (a) | $ 455,072

Twelve months ended
December 31, 2005

Net service revenues | $ 239991% 1746221 % 3411 | % 202,032
Reimbursable out-

of-pocket revenues —|% 48607 — |3 48607
Total revenues $ 23999 % 223,229|% 3411 % 250,639
Cperating

income (foss) $ 7648)% 37021 )% (27426) |5 17243
Total assets $ 308251% 94.156|$59778 (a) | $ 184,759

Twelve months ended
December 31, 2004

Net service revenues | $ 18,157 % 151070 | $ 3661 [ 172,888

Reimbursable out-

of-pocket revenues —|$ 42980 — % 42980
Total revenues § 18,157 |5 194050 | $ 3661 | % 215868
Operating

Income (loss) $ 51833 25578(% (24056) |% 6705
Total assets $ 30873 |% S0.141 |$41.666(a)|% 162,680

(a) Primarity comprised of cash, marketable securities and tax-related assets.

H

Financial infermation by geographic area is as follows:

(in thousands) 2006 2005 2004
Net service revenues

United States 3 O15546%|% 110456 |% 967%
Non-North America 128,002 91,576 76,092

$ 283471 |$ 202032|% 172888

Identifiable assets
United States $ 261585|% 134759(% 113566
Non-North America 193,487 50,000 49,114

§ 455072|% 184759 |% 162680

Net revenues from spensors that accounted for more than
10% of the Company's consolidated net revenues for 2006,
2005 and 2004 are as follows:

2006 2005 2004

Sponsor A ) 12% 15% 20%

Sponsor A accounted for approximately 7%, 5% and 3%
of the Company's consolidated accounts receivable at
December 31, 2006;.December 31, 2005; and December 31,
2004, respectivety.




I7. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)
Earnings per basic share as presented on the 2006 and 2005
income statements do not equal the sum of earnings per
share for each quarter presented below due to rounding
differences in each quarter.

(in thousands, except
per share data)
Quarter First|{ Second Third| Fourth
2006
Net service revenues $59.753 | $62.086 | $75.236 | $86,3%6
Gross profit 28925 28131| 34295| 39290
* Income (loss) from

operations 7278 £.396 80931 (L.757 .
* Net income (loss) 4,899 4289 3997} (4.655)
* Net income (loss}

per diluted share 033 029 027 (0.32)
* Net income (loss}

per basic share 0.35 Q.30 028 {032)
2005
Net service revenues $47.687 | $49965 | $51.581 | $52,799
Gross profit 21961 2283 241307 24546
Income from operations 2849 3652 5541 5,201
Net income 2,145 1,442 3.394 3,693
Net income per diluted share Q.16 a0 024 0.25
Net income per basic share 0.16 011 025 026

(*) The net loss from operations in the fourth quarter of 2006 includes an $8.2
million impairment charge on a customer refationship intangible asset acquired in the
cornparny’s acquisiion of CTPR in 2002,

42



FINANCIAL REVIEW _ -
- T
Stodk Information ance Graph

Sheres eff @smmen siedk eff (endll are Esied en the
Nk Glelbel Sellaat Meral® uider e gymbe] INDL.
The mumiber eff heldters eff regere of Kendlls cemmmen
aireek wes (50 &s eff Mardh . 2007, This (ot celuds
shages i
neme er within deevlighewss periilens ef brelerags
s ane Canls. The eempeny fes aet Eald dhidards
en fis eermmen sted: dines s thespiien,

Annual Meeting

The Anmzl Mesilng of Sharchelders wil
Ty Mey 00, 2007, & 950 am, Easiam Tims,
e Green Reem &f the Arensli Cantiar for the Arts,
G50 Welhnt: Sirsst, Clreinnai, Ofifio 45202

Mf@f@@ﬁmm@ng

== n = e B e

e e
-W@ 4w een |
Spuosbersd WM MM
ber T Tmem  |esas

Y W_ﬁ: ; _jsmd  jgm

‘g6 gl

Ls.....';@:“:“ Tome  |sns |

The fellowiiig grph camperes he Bveyear aumuikiie
shancholdegdetinsofiie

NASDAQ) The
NASDAQ)| Servitess lnclss

Comparison of Five Year Cumulative Total Return®
Among Kendie Imernational Inc., the NASDAG Composte Index
and the NASDAQ Heahth Services Index

1201 12402 (¥} 12104 12405 12006

—£3— Kendle Intermational Ing, — & —NASDAQ Compasite - -0 - - NASDAQ Health Services

* The graph aomemes that 2 § 100 avestrient was made on December 3¢, 2001, and the renvestment of al devaderds.
BoliagValuelofis [00]InvestmentagDecemberds ]

T om0 con vame” o2v04] 1S’ oaes|
Redls N R
Uimeedee] 10040 @@@" 345 4865 |120.48/13660
(e, - ;:,,,,, 11___ - ) N _J|‘
f ‘| } i' ‘I 7‘

m..@v“wu@ 00767 niuzw;

\

1 B A Lk

; B2 10876 n@m:uluw

- Jl; - JL._ — A ?L 7'_13




Reallpeople]Reallresultsiy

Kendle

Financial Reports

Copies of the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, as
well as other investor materials, are available at

www.kendle.com or upon request from:

Investor Relations
Kendle

Attn: Patricia S. Frank
1200 Carew Tower
441 Vine Street
Cincinnati, OH 45202

Transfer Agent & Registrar

LaSalle Bank NA

I35 S. LaSalle Street
Suite 1960

Chicago, IL 60603

Attn: Ms Arlene Kaminski
800 246 5761, option #2

Registered Public Accounting Firm

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Cincinnati, Ohio

Outside Legal Counsel

Keating, Muething & Klekamp PL.L.
Cincinnati, Ohio
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